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SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(UNAUDITED)
June 30, December 31,
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands
Assets
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 13,122 11,017
Short-term investments 6,182 -
Accounts receivable:
Trade, net 615 645
Other 544 897
20,463 12,559
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Long-term restricted deposits 89 89
Long-term deposit 57 50
Property and equipment, net 124 144
Right of use assets 605 543
Intangible assets, net 3,845 4,201
Goodwill 5,387 5,387
10,107 10,414
TOTAL ASSETS 30,570 22,973
Liabilities and equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accruals:
Trade 280 274
Other 1,668 1,358
Contract liabilities 403 441
Contingent consideration 250 915
Derivative financial instruments 1,553 1,448
Short-term lease liabilities 367 298
4,521 4,734
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Long-term contract liabilities 38 41
Long-term lease liabilities 347 365
Long-term contingent consideration - 684
Deferred tax liabilities 673 793
Liability in respect of the Israeli Innovation Authority 158 140
1,216 2,023
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,737 6,757
EQUITY:
Ordinary shares - -
Share premium 85,159 71,492
Other equity reserves 15,089 15,256
Accumulated deficit (75,415) (70,532)
TOTAL EQUITY 24,833 16,216

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 30,570 22,973

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(UNAUDITED)
Six-month period ended
June 30
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands
(except share and per share
data)

REVENUES 3,131 2,165
COST OF REVENUES 1,883 1,121
GROSS PROFIT 1,248 1,044
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Research and development expenses 1,483 793

Selling and marketing expenses 2,430 1,781

General and administrative expenses 2,588 1,495

Impairment of goodwill - 800

Contingent consideration measurement (434) 430
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 6,067 5,299
OPERATING LOSS 4,819 4,255
FINANCIAL EXPENSE 183 55
FINANCIAL INCOME (43) (2,644)
FINANCIAL EXPENSE (INCOME), net 140 (2,589)
LOSS BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME 4,959 1,666
TAXES ON INCOME (76) (122)
NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 4,883 1,544
BASIC LOSS PER SHARE (IN DOLLARS) (0.20) 0.31)
DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE (IN DOLLARS) (0.20) (0.63)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING USED TO COMPUTE (IN

THOUSANDS):
BASIC 24,637 4,982

DILUTED 24,637 6,973

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2021

CHANGES DURING THE SIX-
MONTH PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30,
2021:

Exercise of warrants

Exercise of options

Share-based payments

Direct registered offerings, net of issuance
costs of $527

Net loss for the period

BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2021

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2020

CHANGES DURING THE SIX-
MONTH PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30,
2020:

Conversion of convertible debentures

Exercise of warrants and pre-funded
warrants

Exercise of options

Expiry of options

Share-based payments

Public and direct registered offerings, net
of issuance costs of $1,161

Net loss for the period

BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2020

SAFE-T GROUP LTD.

(UNAUDITED)
Ordinary shares Other
Number of Share equity Accumulated
shares Amount premium reserves deficit Total
U.S. dollars in thousands (except number of share and per share data)

18,152,590 - 71,492 15,256 (70,532) 16,216
3,090,900 - 4,881 (1,171) - 3,710
34,807 - 55 (55) - -

- - - 567 - 567
4,615,000 - 8,731 492 - 9,223
- - - - (4,883) (4,883)
25,893,297 - 85,159 15,089 (75,415) 24,833
1,409,788 - 52,394 13,070 (62,687) 2,777
1,109,708 - 3414 - - 3,414
9,359,212 - 7,853 (5,062) - 2,791
6,282 - 8 ®) - -

- - 3 3) - -

- - - 41 - 41

1,308,600 - 1,149 6,803 - 7,952
- - - (1,544) (1,544)

13,193,590 - 64,821 14,841 (64,231) 15,431

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss for the period

Adjustments required to reflect the cash flows from operating activities:
Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents balances
Change in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Change in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Impairment of goodwill
Exchange rate differences related to restricted deposits
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expenses related to convertible debentures
Share-based payments

Changes in operating asset and liability items:
Decrease in trade receivables
Decrease in other receivables
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in other payables
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities
Decrease in contract liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Short-term investments

Right of use assets

Restricted deposits

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property and equipment

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Israeli Innovation Authority, net

Payment of contingent consideration

Lease payments (interest and principal)

Repayment of convertible debentures

Payment of loans

Proceeds from public and direct offerings, net of issuance expenses
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and pre-funded warrants

Net cash provided by financing activities

Six-month period ended

June 30

2021

2020

U.S. dollars in thousands

(4,883) (1,544)
(45) (240)
(329) (2,372)
(46) =

- 800

- 1

757 685

- 86

567 41
904 (999)
30 133
346 87
6 (135)
328 (409)
(120) (122)
(1) (172)
549 (618)
(3.,430) (3.161)
(6,136) -
) -

- 28
(203) -
(48) (14)
(6,396) 14
= (®)
(915) (1,600)
(132) (114)
- (680)
= 4
9,223 7,952
3,710 2,791
11,886 8,337

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
Six-month period ended
June 30
2021 2020

U.S. dollars in thousands
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,060 5,190
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 11,017 4,341
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES IN RESPECT OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 45 240
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 13,122 9,771
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA ON ACTIVITIES NOT INVOLVING CASH FLOWS:
Conversion of convertible debenture into ordinary shares and warrants - 4,778

Inception of lease transaction 198

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1 - GENERAL:

a. Safe-T Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is engaged: (i) through its subsidiaries Safe-T Data A.R Ltd. (“Safe-T”) and Safe-T USA Inc. (“Safe-T
Inc.”) in the development, marketing and sales of cybersecurity solutions to enterprises; and (ii) through its subsidiaries NetNut Ltd.
(“NetNut”) and Chi Cooked LLC (“Chi Cooked”) in providing enterprise privacy solutions to business customers.

On July 4, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of CyberKick Ltd. (“CyberKick™). For further information, see Note 11(a).

b. The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“TASE”) and as of August 17, 2018, the Company’s American
Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

c. The Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, and has an accumulated deficit as of June 30, 2021, as well as negative
operating cash flows in recent years. The Company expects to continue incurring losses and negative cash flows from operations until its
products reach commercial profitability. The Company monitors its cash flow projections on a current basis and takes active measures to
obtain the funding it requires to continue its operations. These cash flow projections are subject to various risks and uncertainties concerning
their fulfilment. These factors and the risks inherent in the Company’s operations raise a substantial doubt as to the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a
going concern and do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Management’s plans include the continued commercialization of the Company’s products and raising capital through the sale of additional
equity securities, debt or capital inflows from strategic partnerships. There are no assurances however, that the Company will be successful
in obtaining the level of financing needed for its operations. If the Company is unsuccessful in commercializing its products and raising
capital, it may need to reduce activities, curtail or cease operations.

d. On September 19, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved a reverse split of the ordinary share capital of the Company by a ratio of
40:1, to be effective at a date to be determined by the Company. The reverse split became effective on October 15, 2021. This operation is
not affecting the Company’s ADSs, hence following effectiveness the new ratio between the ordinary shares and the ADSs is set at 1:1
instead of the previous 40:1 ratio. All descriptions of the Company’s share capital in these condensed consolidated financial statements,
including share amounts and per share amounts, are presented after giving effect to the reverse split.

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION:
a. Basis of presentation

The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements for the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, have been prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”. These condensed consolidated financial statements,
which are unaudited, do not include all the information and disclosures that would otherwise be required in a complete set of annual
financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and their
accompanying notes, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as published by the
International Accounting Standards Board.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued):

The results of operations for the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for
the entire fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, or for any other interim period.

b. Estimates

The preparation of interim financial statements requires the Company’s management to exercise its judgment and to use significant
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the amounts of reported assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may materially differ from those estimates.

In preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements, the significant judgments that were exercised by the management in
applying the Company’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were similar to those applied in the Company’s
annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements are consistent with those applied in
the preparation of the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2020, expect as described below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are assets not measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are
classified as noncurrent.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and related transaction costs are expensed
to profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently recorded at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are presented in the condensed consolidated statements of profit or loss under “financial income (expenses), net.”

The Company’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent a portfolio of debt and equity marketable securities and are
presented as “short-term investments” in the condensed consolidated statements of financial position. For further information, see Note 5.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 4 - DISAGGREGATED REVENUE DATA:

Set forth below is a breakdown of the Company’s revenue by revenue stream for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2021 and June 30,

2020:
Six-month period
ended June 30
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands
Software as a Service (SaaS) 2,796 1,754
Licenses 118 119
Maintenance and support 217 284
Other services - 8
Total revenues 3,131 2,165

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS:
a. Fair value disclosure

Level 1 financial instruments
As of June 30, 2021, the Company had equity marketable securities measured at fair value through profit or loss, which met the level 1
criteria. As of June 30, 2021, equity marketable securities totaled to $337 thousand and are presented under “short-term investments” in the
condensed consolidated statements of financial position. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no financial assets measured at level
1.
As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no financial liabilities measured at level 1.
Level 2 financial instruments
As of June 30, 2021, the Company had debt marketable securities measured at fair value through profit or loss, which met the level 2
criteria. As of June 30, 2021, debt marketable securities totaled to $5,845 thousand and are presented under “short-term investments” in the
condensed consolidated statements of financial position. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no financial assets measured at level
2.
As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no financial liabilities measured at level 2
Level 3 financial instruments

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no financial assets measured at level 3.

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had several financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss,
which met the level 3 criteria. See further information below.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS (continued):
b. Fair value measurements based on unobservable data (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020:

Derivative
Contingent Convertible financial
consideration debentures instruments Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2021 1,599 - 1,448 3,047
Payment of contingent consideration 915) - - (915)
Recognition of day 1 loss within profit or loss - - 161 161
Changes in fair value recognized within profit or loss (434) - (56) (490)
Balance as of June 30, 2021 250 - 1,553 1,803
Derivative
Contingent Convertible financial
consideration debentures instruments Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2020 2,170 7,151 1,637 10,958
Payment of contingent consideration (1,600) - - (1,600)
Repayment of convertible debentures - (680) - (680)
Initial recognition of financial liability - - 1,450 1,450
Conversion to equity or other financial liability - (4,778) - (4,778)
Recognition of day 1 loss within profit or loss - - 164 164
Changes in fair value recognized within profit or loss 430 (1,693) (1,273) (2,536)

Balance as of June 30, 2020 1,000 - 1,978 2,978

¢. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Assets and liabilities which are not measured on a recurrent basis at fair value are presented at their carrying amount, which approximates
their fair value.




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 6 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

Testing of goodwill impairment
For the six-month period ended June 30, 2021

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, the Company assessed triggering events for potential impairment for each of its CGUs and
determined that no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill was necessary.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2020
NetNut CGU
The Company performed a goodwill impairment testing as of March 31, 2020 for the NetNut CGU.

The indicators for the quantitative assessment for goodwill impairment included a decrease in forecasted operating results, among others,
because of COVID-19 implications. For the purpose of the goodwill impairment testing, the recoverable amount was assessed by
management based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections covering an approximately
six-year forecasted period alongside with a terminal value beyond such forecast period. Cash flows beyond the six-year period to be
generated from continuing use are extrapolated using estimated growth rate. The growth rate represents the long-term average growth rate of
the enterprise privacy business. As a result of the impairment test, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $800 thousand related to
the NetNut CGU.

The key assumptions used as part of the goodwill impairment testing are terminal growth rate of 2%, after-tax discount rate of 20.9% and
pre-tax discount rate of 22.9%.

A hypothetical decrease in the growth rate of 1% or an increase of 1% to the discount rate would reduce the value-in-use by approximately
$311 thousand and $702 thousand, respectively, and could trigger a potential impairment of its goodwill.

In addition, during the three-month period ended June 30, 2020, the Company performed an analysis of the impact of recent events on the fair
value of the NetNut CGU. As part of this analysis, the Company considered the potential impacts of COVID-19 and the sensitivity of
estimates and assumptions used in the last impairment test and concluded that the fair value exceeds its carrying amount by more than 9%.

NOTE 7 - EQUITY:

a. Composition
Number of shares
Issued and Issued and
Authorized paid Authorized paid
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Ordinary shares of no-par value 75,000,000 25,893,297 75,000,000 18,152,590

10




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 7 - EQUITY (continued):

b.

Registered direct offerings and warrants exercises:

On February 18, 2021, the Company completed a registered direct offering of approximately $9.75 million, before deducting offering
expenses at the amount of $527 thousand. The offering consisted of (i) 4,615,000 ADSs at a purchase price of $2.00 per ADS, and (ii)
260,000 pre-funded warrants at a purchase price of $1.999 per warrant, each to purchase one ADS for $0.001.

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, 3,090,900 warrants from the Company’s April 23, 2020 offering of ADSs were exercised
into 3,090,900 ADSs in exchange for an aggregate exercise amount of approximately $3.7 million.

NOTE 8 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:

Bright Data (formerly Luminati) action

On June 11, 2020, Bright Data Ltd. (formerly Luminati Networks Ltd.) filed an action alleging infringement of two patents and alleged
trade secret misappropriation against NetNut. On November 8, 2021, the parties filed a joint motion to stay pending a settlement, in which
NetNut will make no payment to Bright Data. The motion to stay was granted on November 9, 2021, while the parties finalize the settlement
agreement. On June 18, 2021, Bright Data filed a second action against NetNut. Through an amended complaint filed on October 11, 2021,
Bright Data asserts five patents and a false advertising claim. The case is in its early stage and is pending in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas, Marshall Division. Management is of the opinion that no violation was made by NetNut with respect to the
asserted patents. NetNut denies any wrongdoing or liability and intends to defend itself against this complaint. As such, no amounts have
been accrued related to the outcome of such claims.

Contingent consideration
NetNut’s contingent consideration

During the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, the Company paid a final amount of $915 thousand on behalf of the remaining contingent
consideration liability. As of June 30, 2021, the Company has no liability in connection with NetNut’s contingent consideration.

Chi Cooked's contingent consideration
As of June 30, 2021, the fair value of the contingent consideration totaled to $250 thousand and was valued using the Monte Carlo method,
with the following principal assumptions: Risk-free interest rate - 0.06%, expected term (in years) - 0.50 and expected volatility of revenue

and variable expenses - 50.1%. As a result, during the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded a gain of $434
thousand as contingent consideration measurement.

11




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 9 - LOSS PER SHARE:
a. Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to Company’s owners by the weighted average number of issued ordinary
shares in issue.

Six-month period

ended June 30
2021 2020
Loss attributable to Company’s owners (U.S. dollars in thousands) (4,883) (1,544)
The weighted average of the number of issued ordinary shares (in thousands( 24,637 4,982
Basic loss per share (U.S. dollar) (0.20) 0.31)

b. Diluted

The Company adjusts the loss attributable to holders of ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares in issue, to reflect the
effect of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares, as follows: The Company adds to the weighted average number of shares in issue that was
used to calculate the basic loss per share, the weighted average of the number of shares to be issued assuming that all shares that have a
potentially dilutive effect would be converted into shares, and adjusts net loss attributable to holders of the Company’s ordinary shares to
exclude any profits or losses recorded during the period with respect to potentially dilutive shares. The potential shares, as mentioned above,
are only taken into account in cases where their effect is dilutive (reducing the earnings per share or increasing the loss per share).

Six-month period

ended June 30
2021 2020
Loss attributable to the Company’s owners, used in computation of basic loss per share (U.S. dollars in thousands) (4,883) (1,544)
Adjustment in respect of the finance income relating to financial instruments (U.S. dollars in thousands) - (2,826)
(4,883) (4,370)
The weighted average of the number of ordinary shares in issue used in computation of basic loss per share (in
thousands) 24,637 4,982
Adjustment in respect of incremental shares assuming the conversion to financial instruments (in thousands) 1,991
24,637 6,973
Diluted loss per share (U.S. dollar) (0.20) (0.63)

When calculating the diluted loss per share for the six-month period ended June 30, 2020, the Company accounted for the dilutive effect of
the derivative financial instruments and the convertible debentures. Other financial instruments were not accounted for when calculating the
diluted loss per share since their effect, on a fully diluted basis, is anti-dilutive.

12




SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 10 - ENTITY LEVEL DISCLOSURES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION:

Management has determined the Company’s operating segments based on the information reviewed by the Company’s chief operating
decision maker for the purpose of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. As of June 30, 2021, the Company
has two operating segments: enterprise cybersecurity and enterprise privacy.

The chief operating decision maker, which is the Company's Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), examines the performance of the operating
segments based on revenues and adjusted operating loss. Following the Chi Cooked acquisition, and as a part of the Company's business
strategy, which includes the acquisition of business in various fields, starting in 2021, the adjusted operating loss is calculated based on
operating loss before share-based payments, contingent consideration measurement, impairment of goodwill and intangible assets,
depreciation and amortization and non-attributable corporate expenses, which were previously reported under the enterprise cybersecurity
segment. As a result, the information regarding the Company’s operating segments for prior periods was retrospectively adjusted.

The following tables present details of the Company's operating segments for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

Enterprise Enterprise
cybersecurity privacy Total
Six-month period ended June 30, 2021
U.S. dollar in thousands

Revenues 335 2,796 3,131

Adjusted operating loss (1,969) *(1,023) (2,992)
Non-attributable corporate expenses (937)
Share-based payments (567)
Contingent consideration measurement 434

Depreciation and amortization !757)
Operating loss (4,819)
Financial expenses, net (140)
Taxes on income (]

Net loss for the period (4,883)

*  Including legal expenses related to Bright Data action, see also Note 8(a).
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SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 10 - ENTITY LEVEL DISCLOSURES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued):

Enterprise Enterprise
cybersecurity privacy Total
Six-month period ended June 30, 2020
U.S. dollar in thousands

Revenues 411 1,754 2,165

Adjusted operating loss (1,312) (16) (1,328)
Non-attributable corporate expenses 971)
Share-based payments 41)
Contingent consideration measurement (430)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (800)
Depreciation and amortization (685)
Operating loss (4,255)
Financial income, net 2,589

Taxes on income 122

Net loss for the period (1,544)

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:
a. Acquisition of CyberKick

On July 4, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of all issued and outstanding share capital of CyberKick, which provides solutions
for security and privacy tools developers and consumers. The initial consideration paid was $9.3 million, which consisted of cash
consideration of $3.7 million and equity consideration of $5.6 million paid by the issuance of 4,062,045 ordinary shares of the Company
(based on average weight of the share price for an agreed period prior to the acquisition).

The consideration may be increased by an additional earn-out payment of up to $3 million to CyberKick founders, subject to certain revenue
targets of CyberKick during the first and second year following the closing of the transaction, provided that the entitlement shall be only of
the founders who are still engaged by CyberKick at such time. The Company may decide, at its sole discretion, to pay the earn-out
consideration in equity, in whole or in part.

The costs associated with the acquisition were approximately $215 thousand and are recorded in general and administrative expense.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred was $9,508 thousand, which consisted of the following:

July 4,
2021
U.S. dollar in
thousands
Consideration:
Cash 3,700
Fair value of ordinary shares issued 5,808
9,508
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SAFE-T GROUP LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (continued)

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued):

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition:

July 4,
2021
U.S. dollar in
thousands

Customer relations 3,228
Technologies 792
Goodwill 6,311
Property and equipment, net 2
Deferred tax liabilities (825)
Net assets acquired 9,508

Due to the timing of the transaction closing date, the fair values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed are preliminary, based on
management’s estimates and assumptions and may be subject to change as additional information is received. The Company expects to
finalize the valuation as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the acquisition date.

The estimated useful life of the acquired technologies is 10 years, and the customer relations is between 2 to 8 years. Goodwill primarily
represented the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition, as well as assembled workforce.

The Company issued 4,062,045 ordinary shares with an estimated fair value of $5,808 thousand, representing $1.43 per share. The fair value
of ordinary shares issued was determined using the Company's market price per share in the TASE as of the closing date, translated into
U.S. dollars using the exchange rate as of such date.

The Company assumed earn-out consideration to CyberKick’s founders with an estimated fair value of $3 million. The fair value of the
earn-out consideration was allocated to future services and will be expensed over the remaining service periods.

b. Options grant

On August 25, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an aggregate grant of 1,657,572 options to purchase 1,657,572 ordinary
shares (1,657,572 ADS:s), to officers, employees and consultants. The exercise prices of the options granted range from NIS 0 to NIS 4 per
share, their vesting schedules range between 6 months to 3 years, and they will expire between 3 to 10 years from the grant date.

In addition, on September 19, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved an aggregate grant of 483,750 options to purchase 483,750
ordinary shares (483,750 ADSs) to 5 members of the Company’s Board of Directors, including the Company’s CEO. The grant date of the
options is set on July 22, 2021, with an exercise price of NIS 4.6 per share, the options vest over 3 years, and they will expire 10 years from
the grant date.
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Exhibit 99.2

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As of June 30, 2021, and for the Six Months then Ended
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Certain information included in this analysis may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other securities laws. Forward-looking statements are often characterized by the use of forward-looking terminology

such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “plans,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “continue,” “believe,” “should,” “intend,” “project” or other similar words, but are not
the only way these statements are identified.

2 ¢ 2 2 < 2 ¢

These forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our objectives, plans and strategies, statements that
contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition, expected capital needs and expenses, statements relating to the research,
development, completion and use of our products, and all statements (other than statements of historical facts) that address activities, events or
developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the future.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties. We have based these forward-
looking statements on assumptions and assessments made by our management in light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current
conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe to be appropriate.

Important factors that could cause actual results, developments and business decisions to differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements include, among other things:

e the overall global economic environment, including the potential influence of COVID-19 on the market which the Company operates in;

e the impact of competition and new technologies;

e our ability to market and sell our products;

e our intention to increase marketing and sales activities;

e our plans to continue to invest in research and development to develop technology for both existing and new products;

e general market, political and economic conditions in the countries in which we operate;

e projected capital expenditures and liquidity;

e changes in our strategy; and

e litigation.

The foregoing list is intended to identify only certain of the principal factors that could cause actual results to differ. For a more detailed
description of the risks and uncertainties affecting our company, reference is made to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31,
2020, or our Annual Report, which is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, and the other risk factors discussed from time to

time by our company in reports filed or furnished to the SEC.

Except as otherwise required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.




General

Introduction
Unless indicated otherwise by the context, all references in this report to “Safe-T”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our” are to Safe-T Group Ltd.
and its subsidiaries. All references in this report to “dollars” or “$” means United States dollars.

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and notes thereto, and together with our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 and notes
thereto filed with the SEC as part of our Annual Report.

COVID-19

The spread of COVID-19 has forced the Company to modify its business practices (including employee travel, employee work locations and
cancellation of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences). In responding to the crisis, the Company leveraged its IT capabilities to
implement remote connections with employees, customers and vendors to deliver a functional and productive work-from-home strategy.

During the first quarter of 2020, due to an almost complete freeze in the travel sector, the Company experienced a reduction of approximately
10% in revenue from the enterprise privacy business. The Company closely monitored and found other sectors in this business that compensated for this
sales reduction, in the second part of the year, and more intensively during the first half of 2021.

Overview

We generate Software-as-a-Service, or SaaS, revenues from our privacy platform solutions. We also generate revenue from sales of our
ZoneZero® secure access solutions and Secure Data Exchange (SDE) solutions for data exchange — perpetual or subscribed licenses of our products, and
related services.

SaaS revenues are generated when customers are subscribing to our enterprise privacy platforms and paying for the bandwidth package they
choose. The packages are usually for the earlier of one to three months or maximum bandwidth usage. Our revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the package period.

Our product license revenue consists primarily of revenue generated from the sale of our ZoneZero® solutions line and SDE. We offer the
ZoneZero® solutions as a complete suite to protect customers’ data, services and networks from internal and external threats, such as unauthorized access
to data, services and networks, as well as data-related threats that include data exfiltration, leakage, malware, ransomware and fraud. We also offer each
of these products for sale as a stand-alone solution for customers that are seeking protection for a certain aspect of their network.

License revenue can be generated through the sale of either perpetual licenses or subscribed licenses. In a perpetual license sale, the customer
purchases our product, usually accompanied with one to three years of maintenance and support services. Thereafter, the customer is not obligated to
continue the engagement with us, but in order to maintain maintenance and support services, including receiving updates and upgrades for our products,
which are essential in order to monitor and successfully block any potential threats, they will usually purchase additional and continuous periods of
maintenance and support services.

A subscribed license sale is generated when the customer elects to use our product as a service, usually for periods ranging from one to three
years. This service also includes maintenance and support throughout the subscribed period, which after its expiration the customer is not entitled to use
the products unless the subscription is renewed for additional periods. The price of a one-year subscription is lower than the same license sold as a
perpetual license, but the cash flow renewals in later years is higher than the renewal of maintenance and support services in the perpetual licenses’
method.




Maintenance and support service renewals from the ZoneZero® solutions and SDE products are usually 15%-25% of the perpetual license price,
depending mainly on the supporting hours and response times, and are important, as they represent, like subscription renewals, steady and visible cash
flow growth.

Our average renewal rate for subscriptions of maintenance and support contracts in the SDE product line is decreasing as we decided to stop
developing this product and stop actively selling it. Revenues are generated almost solely upon customers’ renewals only. With respect to our ZoneZero®
products that were launched during 2020, we expect a high renewal rates in the future due to the significant value we believe these new products add to
the customers’ information security. In addition to our efforts to ensure customer satisfaction, in order to grow our business, we intend to also focus on
generating revenue from new customers, ideally medium to large organizations.

We also generate minor revenues from other services, such as implementation services or product development services requested by our
customers to enhance the security of specific processes or applications. The services to the customer can be provided by either specific product
developments or support/implementation services, which are provided at the customer’s premises.

On July 1, 2021, we announced the acquisition of CyberKick Ltd., a provider of SaaS security and privacy tools as well as distribution services
of third party privacy tools, or CyberKick. The initial consideration paid on the closing of the transaction, for the sale and purchase of 100% of the equity
interest in CyberKick, was a combination of cash ($3.7 million) and equity (approximately 163 million of Safe-T’s ordinary shares, representing $5.6
million based on an average price calculation agreed with the sellers).

The consideration may be increased by an additional earn-out payment of up to $3 million to CyberKick’s founders, subject to certain revenue
targets of CyberKick during the first and second year following the closing of the transaction, provided that the entitlement shall be only of the founders
who are still engaged by CyberKick at such time. The Company may decide, at its sole discretion, to pay the earn-out consideration in equity, in whole or
in part.

We also committed to support and boost CyberKick’s growth by providing financing of $2.5 million in the 24 months following the acquisition.
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, obligations,
income and expenses during the reporting periods. A comprehensive discussion of our critical accounting policies is included in “Item 5. Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section in our Annual
Report.
Results of Operations

The following discussion of our unaudited results of operations for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, included in the

following table, which presents selected financial information data, is based upon our unaudited statements of profit or loss contained in our financial
statements for those periods, and the related notes.




For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,

U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss Data
Revenues 3,131 2,165
Cost of revenues 1,883 1,121
Gross profit 1,248 1,044
Research and development expenses 1,483 793
Selling and marketing expenses 2,430 1,781
General and administrative expenses 2,588 1,495
Impairment of goodwill - 800
Contingent consideration measurement (434) 430
Operating loss 4,819 4,255
Financial expense (income), net 140 (2,589)
Loss before taxes on income 4,959 1,666
Taxes on income (76) (122)
Net loss for the period (4,883) (1,544)

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2021 to the six months ended June 30, 2020
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues through types and regions for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of results is
not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

Revenues through types:

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
SaaS 2,796 1,754
Licenses 118 119
Support 217 284
Other services - 8
Total 3,131 2,165

Revenues through regions:

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Revenues from Israel 369 394
Revenues from North America 1,583 897
Revenues from Europe 557 365
Revenues from Asia-Pacific 236 205
Revenues from Rest of World 386 304
Total 3,131 2,165




Total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2021, amounted to $3,131,000, compared to $2,165,000 generated in the six months ended
June 30, 2020. The increase in revenues compared to the first half of 2020 is due to the increase in enterprises privacy business SaaS revenues generated
by our privacy platforms - $250,000 an increase in NetNut’s revenues, and $792,000 by ChiCooked, whose revenues were consolidated for the first time
following its acquisition on December 7, 2021. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of $135,000 in the revenues of the SDE product line, as
part of the Company’s strategic plan to focus on the Zero Trust solutions in the cybersecurity sector for enterprises.

Cost of Revenues

The following table summarizes our cost of revenues for the periods presented, as well as presenting the gross profit as a percentage of total
revenues. The period-to-period comparison of results is not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Payroll, related expenses and share-based payment 249 107
Cost of networks, servers and internet services providers 1,040 452
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of intangible assets 549 540
Other 45 22
Total cost of revenues 1,883 1,121
Gross profit 1,248 1,044

Gross profit % 40% 48%

Cost of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2021, totaled $1,883,000 compared to cost of revenues of $1,121,000 for the equivalent
period in 2020. The increase is mainly a result of growth in revenue from enterprises privacy business, which involves higher internet services providers
costs (81,040,000 compared to $452,000 in the equivalent period in 2020), and also due to additional staffing on the part of the enterprises privacy and
security solutions, resulting in higher salary-related costs of $249,000 compared to payroll and related expenses of $107,000 in the six months ended June
30, 2020.

Research and Development Expenses, Net

The following table summarizes our research and development, or R&D, costs for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of
results is not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Payroll, related expenses and share-based payment 828 375
Subcontractors 449 314
Other 206 104
Total research and development expenses 1,483 793

R&D expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021, were $1,483,000, compared to $793,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020. The
increase in R&D expenses is attributed to higher enterprises privacy business development costs, mainly salary and subcontractors, due to an extension of
the enterprise privacy solutions activity, in the amount of $557,000, compared to costs of $242,000 in the equivalent period in 2020. The increase in R&D
expenses is also due to higher subcontractors’ costs related to the Zero Trust solutions ($301,000 compared to $214,000) and share-based compensation
($112,000 compared to $2,000).




Selling and Marketing Expenses

The following table summarizes our sales and marketing, or S&M, costs for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of results is
not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Payroll, related expenses and share-based payment 1,312 1,038
Selling commissions 267 283
Professional fees 350 116
Marketing 211 200
Other 290 144

Total selling and marketing expenses 2,430 1,781

S&M expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021, totaled $2,430,000 compared to an amount of $1,781,000 for the six months ended June
30, 2020. The increase is primarily attributed to higher professional services expenses related to the marketing and sales of the Zero Trust solutions, in the
amount of $278,000 compared to an amount of $60,000 in the six-month period ended June 30, 2020, as well as to higher salary costs and an increase in
share-based compensation, from $1,038,000 in the first half of 2020 to $1,312,000 in the equivalent period in 2021.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative, or G&A, costs for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of
results is not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Payroll, related expenses and share-based payment 960 569
Professional fees 1,477 743
Office expenses & other 151 183

Total general and administration expenses 2,588 1,495

G&A expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021, totaled $2,588,000, compared to $1,495,000 in the equivalent period in 2020. The
increase is mainly due to higher professional fees, predominantly legal fees, in connection with intellectual property protection and other legal fees,
reaching $1,477,000 compared to costs of $743,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020. The increase is also due to a rise in payroll and related
expenses, mainly share based compensation, from $569,000 in the six-month period ended June 30, 2020, to $960,000 in the same period in 2021.

Impairment of Goodwill
We didn’t record any impairment loss for the first half of 2021, compared to an impairment loss of $800,000 recorded in the six months ended

June 30, 2020, which was related to our enterprise privacy business as a result of then forecasted operating results, among others, because of COVID-19
implications.




Contingent Consideration Measurement

We recorded in the six-month period ended June 30, 2021, a gain of $434,000 due to a reduction in the fair value of the contingent consideration
to ChiCooked’s sellers compared to its value on December 31, 2020. This compared to recorded loss of $430,000 in the equivalent period of 2020,
resulting then from the additional contingent consideration paid to NetNut’s former shareholders, compared to the amount that was evaluated on
December 31, 2019.

Operating Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $4,819,000, compared to an operating loss of
$4,255,000 in the equivalent period in 2020.

Financial Expenses, Net

We had net financial expenses of $140,000 in the first six months of 2021, compared to net financial income of $2,589,000 for the six months
ended June 30, 2020. The income in 2020 was primarily due to a sharp reduction in the fair value of convertible debentures, net of day 1 loss
amortization, compared to their value on December 31, 2019. The convertible debentures were converted or returned during 2020, hence they didn’t have
any financial impact in the first six months of 2021.

Net Loss for the Period

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, was $4,883,000, compared to a loss of $1,544,000 during the
equivalent period in 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

As of October 31, 2021, our cash and cash equivalents including short-term investments of approximately $12.0 million were held for working
capital, capital expenditures, investment in technology and business acquisition purposes. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors,
including our growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the
introduction of new and enhanced product and service offerings, the continuing market acceptance of our products and the pursuing for strategic
opportunities, including, but not limited to, strategic acquisitions. These factors and the risk inherent in the Company’s operations raise a substantial
doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

For the Six-Month

Period Ended
June 30,
U.S. dollars in thousands 2021 2020
Net cash used in operating activities (3,430) (3,161)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (6,396) 14
Net cash provided by financing activities 11,886 8,337
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,060 5,190




Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $3,430,000, primarily attributed to cost of sales and
operational costs which exceeded cash flows from customers’ payments. The increase, compared to $3,161,000 used in operating activities during the six
months ended June 30, 2020, is primarily attributed to higher increase in costs, setting the infrastructure for future sales, compared to the increase in
revenues.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $6,396,000, due to investment in short-term investment,
compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $14,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $11,886,000, primarily attributed to funds from a
registered direct offering that closed on February 18, 2021, with net proceeds of approximately $9,223,000 and warrants exercises in the amount of
$3,710,000.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $8,337,000, primarily attributed to funds from a public
offering closed on April 23, 2020 and a registered direct offering closed on April 2, 2020 with net proceeds of $7,952,000, as well as from warrants and
pre-funded warrants exercises of $2,791,000.

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

As a result of the foregoing, our cash and cash equivalents increased in the amount of $2,060,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2021,
compared to an increase in the amount of $5,190,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

Current Outlook

We have financed our operations to date primarily through proceeds from sales of our equity securities. We have incurred losses and generated
negative cash flows from operations since our inception.

As of October 31, 2021, our cash and cash equivalents, including short-term investments, were approximately $12.0 million. Our operating plans
may change as a result of many factors that may currently be unknown to us, which may impact our funding plans. Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including:

o the progress and costs of our research and development activities;

e the potential costs of contracting with third parties to provide marketing and distribution services for us or for building such capacities
internally;

e the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses;
e the potential earn-out payments under past acquisitions; and
e  costs of future potential acquisitions.

We have potential earn-out payments of up to $3 million under the CyberKick acquisition. We may decide, at our sole discretion, to pay the
earn-out consideration in equity, in whole or in part.

Until we can generate significant recurring revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through equity financings. There are no
assurances however, that we will be successful in obtaining the level of financing needed for our operations. If we are unsuccessful in commercializing
our products and raising capital, we may need to reduce activities, curtail or cease operations.
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Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors of CyberKick Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CyberKick Business (the “Company”), which comprise the statements of financial position as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the related statements of profit or loss, changes in net parent investment (deficit) and cash flows for the years then
ended.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the CyberKick Business as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Tel-Aviv, Israel /s/ Kesselman & Kesselman
November 16, 2021 Certified Public Accountants (lsr.)
A member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Kesselman & Kesselman, 146 Derech Menachem Begin, Tel-Aviv 6492103, Israel,
P.O Box 7187 Tel-Aviv 6107120, Telephone: +972 -3- 7954555, Fax:+972 -3- 7954556, www.pwc.com/il




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31

2020

2019

Note
Assets
CURRENT ASSETS -
Trade receivables 4
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets, net 5
Property and equipment, net

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities and net parent investment

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Related parties

Trade payable

Other payable 7
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET PARENT INVESTMENT -
Parent investment (deficit)
TOTAL NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U.S. dollars in thousands

338 478
338 478
54 27
28 -
3 1
85 28
423 506
. 32
113 102
345 248
458 382
458 332
(35) 124
(35) 124
423 506




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended December 31

Note 2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

REVENUES 4,341 1,700
COST OF REVENUES 9 2,117 1,244
GROSS PROFIT 2,224 456
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Research and development expenses 10 230 166

Selling and marketing expenses 11 451 258

General and administrative expenses 12 147 74
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 828 498
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 1,396 (42)
FINANCIAL EXPENSE, net 58 12
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME 1,338 54)
TAXES ON INCOME 6 (311) 11
NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 1,027 43)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT)

Parent
investment
(deficit) Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 - -
Net transfer from Parent 167 167

Net loss for the year (43) (43)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 124 124

Net transfer to Parent (1,186) (1,186)

Net profit for the year 1,027 1,027
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 (35) (35)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net profit (loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in deferred tax assets

Changes in operating asset and liability items:
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Increase (decrease) in related parties
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of Intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -
Net transfer from (to) Parent
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

*  Less than $1 thousand.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Year ended December 31

2020 2019

U.S. dollars in thousands

1,027 (43)
2 *
7) 27)
(25) (27)
140 (478)
(32) 32
11 102
97 248
216 (96)
1218 (166)
2 @)
(30) -
(32) @
(1,186) 167
(1,186) 167




CYBERKICK BUSINESS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 - GENERAL:

On July 1, 2021, Takoomi Ltd. (“Takoomi” or the ‘“Parent”) entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with Safe-T Group Ltd.
(“Safe-T”) and the shareholders of Takoomi. Pursuant to the SPA, immediately prior to the Closing (as defined in the SPA), Takoomi will
transfer and assign certain assets as well as intellectual property rights (the “CyberKick Business” or “Business”) to CyberKick Ltd.
(“CyberKick” or the “Company”), and accordingly, Safe-T will purchase all of the issued and outstanding share capital of CyberKick.

CyberKick was incorporated on May 3, 2021, by the shareholders of Takoomi as a special purpose vehicle organized as a company, designated
solely to facilitate the transaction, as described herein.

The transaction closed on July 4, 2021. Until the said date, the CyberKick Business was a part of Takoomi’s activities as described herein.

The CyberKick Business provides solutions for security and privacy tools developers, as well as to security and privacy tools consumers.
NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

a. Basis of presentation of financial statements

The accompanying financial statements include the historical accounts of the CyberKick Business, a division of the Parent. Throughout the
periods included in these financial statements, the Business operated as part of the Parent. Separate financial statements have not historically
been prepared for the Business.

These financial statements have been prepared on a standalone basis and are derived from Takoomi’s financial statements and accounting
records. The financial statements reflect the Business’s financial position, results of operations, changes in net parent investment (deficit)
and cash flows in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter - “IFRS”), and interpretations issued by the
IFRS Interpretations Committee applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial position, results of operations, changes in net parent investment (deficit) and cash flows of the Business may not be indicative
of its results had it been a separate stand-alone entity during the periods presented and do not necessarily reflect the future results of the
Business as it exists following the completion of the transaction described in Note 1.

The financial statements of the Business include expenses which were allocated from Takoomi for certain functions, including general
corporate expenses related to human resources and office expenses. These allocations have been made on the basis of direct usage when
identifiable, with the remainder allocated on the basis of headcount. Management believes the expense allocation methodology and results
are reasonable and consistently applied for all periods presented. However, these allocations may not be indicative of the actual expenses
that would have been incurred by an independent company or of the costs to be incurred in the future.

The financial statements include assets and liabilities specifically attributable to the Business. The Parent uses a centralized approach for
managing cash and financing operations. Accordingly, all of the cash balances are transferred to the Parent’s cash management accounts
regularly and therefore are not included in the financial statements. Transfers of cash between the Business and Parent are included within
“Net transfer from (to) Parent” in the statements of cash flows and changes in net parent investment (deficit).




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

a.

Basis of presentation of financial statements (continued)

As these financial statements have been prepared on a carve-out basis, it is not meaningful to show share capital or provide an analysis of
reserves. The amounts reflected in “Parent investment (deficit)” in the statement of changes in net parent investment (deficit) refer to net
profit (loss) for the year attributed to the Business in addition to transactions between the Parent and the Business.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently.
In connection with the presentation of these financial statements, it is noted as follows:
1) The significant accounting policies described below have been applied consistently to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2) The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Business’s accounting policies. Actual results may differ materially
from estimates and assumptions used by management. The Business’s critical accounting estimate is revenue recognition (gross versus
net basis). See Note 2(k) for further information.

The novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic has created and may continue to create significant uncertainty in macroeconomic
conditions, and the extent of its impact on the Business’s operational and financial performance will depend on certain developments,
including the duration and spread of the outbreak and the impact on the Business’s customers and its sales cycles. Management
considered the impact of COVID-19 on the estimates and assumptions and determined that there were no material adverse impacts on
the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. As events continue to evolve and additional information becomes
available, management’s estimates and assumptions may change materially in future periods.

Functional currency

Management concluded that the currency of the primary economic environment in which the CyberKick Business conducts its operations is
the U.S. dollar (hereafter - “dollar” or “$”). Accordingly, the Business uses the dollar as its functional and reporting currency.

Transactions and balances originally denominated in dollars are presented at their original amounts. Balances in non-dollar currencies are
translated into dollars using historical and current exchange rates for non-monetary and monetary balances, respectively. For non-dollar
transactions reflected in the statement of operations, the transaction date exchange rates are used. Depreciation and other changes deriving
from non-monetary items are based on historical exchange rates. The resulting transaction gains or losses are recorded as financial income
or expenses, as appropriate.

Trade receivables

The trade receivables balance represents the unconditional right to consideration because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due from the CyberKick Business customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected within one year or less,
trade receivables are classified as current assets. If not, trade receivables are presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables are initially
recognized based on their transaction price, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less a
provision for expected credit losses.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

d.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: computers and software — 3 years, office furniture and equipment — 7-14 years.

Intangible assets
1) Research and development

Through December 31, 2020 and 2019, the CyberKick Business has not met the criteria for capitalizing of development expenses as
intangible assets, and accordingly, no asset has so far been recognized in the financial statements in respect of capitalized research and
development expenses. Consequently, the research and development expenses of the Business are fully recognized as incurred.

2) Technology

Technology is initially recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, and amortized over 5 years using the straight-line method, with
such amortization recorded within cost of revenues.

Impairment of non-monetary assets

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less selling costs and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels of identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-monetary assets, other than goodwill, that were previously
impaired are reviewed at each balance sheet date for possible reversal of the impairment recognized. Other intangible assets, whose useful
life is indefinite, are tested annually for impairment. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no impairment loss was recognized.

Financial assets
1) Classification

The CyberKick Business classifies its financial assets at amortized cost. The classification is determined, among other things, in
accordance with the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. The basis of classification depends on the Business’s
business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Financial assets at amortized cost are held within a
business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and their contractual terms give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. These assets
are classified as current assets, except for maturities of more than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-
current assets. The Business’s financial assets at amortized cost include “trade receivables”.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):
2) Impairment of financial assets, measured at amortized cost

The Business recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets. At each reporting date, the Business assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since the initial recognition. If the financial asset is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date, the Business assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly
since initial recognition. The Business measures the allowances for expected credit losses on trade receivables that are within the scope
of IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, and on financial assets for which the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition based on the estimated lifetime credit losses. Otherwise, the Business measures the allowance for credit losses
at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses at the current reporting date.

h. Trade payables

Trade payables are the CyberKick Business’s obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value, and in subsequent periods at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.

i. Current and deferred income taxes

The Business is not a legal taxpaying entity and is a part of the Parent’s tax return for the periods included in these financial statements.
Therefore, the Business’ tax provision for each period presented has been calculated on a separate return basis. Additionally, the Business is
deemed to settle the annual current tax balances with the Parent. These settlements are included within “Net transfer from (to) Parent”.

The tax expenses for the reported years comprise current and deferred taxes. Taxes are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except
to the extent that they relate to items recognized directly in equity. In that case, the tax is also recognized in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the CyberKick Business operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates the tax aspects
applicable to its taxable income based on the relevant tax laws and makes provisions in accordance with the amounts payable to the Israeli
Tax Authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

However, deferred income tax liabilities are not accounted for if they arise from initial recognition of goodwill. Also, deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

j-

Employee benefits
1) Severance pay and pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefits scheme under which group companies pay fixed contributions into a separate
and independent entity. The CyberKick Business has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The Business’s
severance pay and pension obligations are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.
Under their terms, the said pension plans meet the criteria for defined contribution plan as above.

2) Vacation and recreation pay

Every employee is legally entitled to vacation and recreation benefits, which are computed on an annual basis. This entitlement is based
on the term of employment. The Business charges a liability and expense due to vacation and recreation pay, based on the benefits that
have been accumulated for each employee.

Since the Business expects that the benefit arising from vacation pay will be fully settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting
period in which the employees provide the relating services, the liability in respect of this benefit is measured in accordance with the
additional amount, which the Business expects to pay for unutilized vacation benefits accrued at the end of the reporting period.

3) Severance pay

Severance pay is paid when an employee is terminated by the Business before the normal retirement date, or when an employee had
agreed to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Business recognizes severance pay liabilities at the earlier
of:

e  When it can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
o  When it recognizes costs for a restructuring in the scope of International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 37, “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, that includes the payment of severance benefits.

k. Revenue recognition

The CyberKick Business accounts for revenue in accordance with IFRS 15. The Business applies the practical expedient for incremental
costs of obtaining contracts when the associated revenues are recognized over less than one year. The Business derives its revenues from
two sources:

Advertising revenues

The Business generates revenues from the distribution of security and privacy products of third-party developers in various digital
properties. Advertising revenue is recognized at the point in time when a user purchases a product of a customer and is considered a single
performance obligation.

Management evaluates whether its revenues should be presented on a gross basis, which is the amount that a customer pays for the service,
or on a net basis, which is the amount of the customer payment less amounts the Business pays to digital property owners. The evaluation to
present revenue on a gross versus net basis requires significant judgment. Management has determined that it acts as the principal and
recognizes revenue as it relates to these transactions on a gross basis as the Business controls the service to the customer and it is the
primary obligor in the transaction.
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CYBERKICK BUSINESS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

k. Revenue recognition (continued)
Subscription revenues
The Business generates revenues from the sale of subscriptions to customers who access its enterprise privacy platform. Subscription
revenue is recognized ratably over the contract terms (generally one-month) and is considered a single performance obligation. Revenues
from the sale of subscriptions for the year ended December 31, 2020, were immaterial.

I.  Cost of revenues
Cost of revenues primarily includes traffic acquisition costs, payroll and related expenses. Traffic acquisition costs consist primarily of
payments to digital property owners for placing the CyberKick Business’s customers’ products on their digital property. Traffic acquisition
costs are based on a cost-per click or cost-per impression arrangements and are charged as incurred.

NOTE 3 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT:

a. Financial risk management
Foreign exchange risks
The CyberKick Business’s activities expose it to a foreign exchange risk.
The Business operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency transactions, primarily with
respect to the New Israeli Shekels (NIS). Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Business hedges and minimizes the foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the amounts of net current
assets at a specific point in time correspond to the amount of current liabilities at that point in time.
Credit risks
Most of the Business’s credit risks arise from trade receivables. The Business mitigates the risk by ensuring its customer has sufficient funds
to meet its needs and by selling to customers of high credit quality. No credit limits were exceeded in 2020 and 2019 and management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties beyond those that have already been recognized.

b. Financial instruments

Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

Financial assets at amortized cost:
Trade receivables 338 478

338 478

Assets and liabilities, which are not measured on a recurring basis at fair value, are presented at their carrying amount, which approximates
their fair value.

11




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 4 - TRADE RECEIVABLES:

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the trade receivables balance comprises open accounts.

The CyberKick Business did not record a provision for credit losses as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and has no customers that exceed their
customary credit terms.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, a single customer represented 70% and 96%, respectively, of trade receivables. For the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, a single customer represented 88% and 73%, respectively, of total revenues.

NOTE 5 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

On March 13, 2020, the CyberKick Business signed an agreement for the purchase of Virtual Private Network Platform in the amount of $30
thousand. Amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $2 thousand. As of December 31, 2020, intangible assets totaled to
$28 thousand.

NOTE 6 - TAXES ON INCOME:

Income taxes

The income of the CyberKick Business is calculated based on the regular corporate tax rate in Israel, which is 23%.

Deferred taxes

As of December 31, 2020, deferred tax assets arise from: research and development costs carryforward for the next two year of $41
thousand and employees related provisions of $13 thousand. Deferred taxes income for the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled to $27
thousand.

As of December 31, 2019, deferred tax assets arise from: research and development costs carryforward for the next two year of $23
thousand and employees related provisions of $4 thousand. Deferred taxes income for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled to $27
thousand.

Theoretical tax reconciliation

A reconciliation of the theoretical tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the regular tax rates applicable to companies in Israel and the
actual tax expense is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
% 2020 % 2019
U.S. dollars in U.S. dollars in
thousands thousands
Profit (loss) before taxes on income, as reported in the statement of profit or
loss 23 1,338 23 (54)
Theoretical tax (tax saving) on this profit or loss 308 (12)
Increase in taxes resulting from permanent differences - non-deductible
expenses 3 1
Tax expenses (income) 311 an

12




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 7 - OTHER PAYABLES:

December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
Employees and related institutions 167 39
Accrued expenses 178 209
345 248

NOTE 8 - RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATION:

d.

Liability for employee rights upon retirement

Labor laws and agreements require the CyberKick Business to pay severance pay and/or pensions to employees dismissed or retiring from
their employ in certain other circumstances. The amounts of benefits those employees are entitled to upon retirement are based on the
number of years of service and the last monthly salary. Also, under labor laws and labor agreements in effect, including the Expansion
Order (Combined Version) for Obligatory Pension under the Collective Agreements Law of 1957 (the “Expansion Order”), the Business is
liable to make deposits with provident funds, pension funds or other such funds, to cover its employees’ pension insurance as well as some
of its severance pay liabilities.

Under the terms of the Expansion Order, the Business deposits for severance pay as required under the Expansion Order as well as other
deposits made by those companies “in lieu of severance pay” and which were announced as such as required under the Expansion Order,
replace all payment of severance pay under Section 14 of the Israeli Severance Pay Law, 1963 (the “Severance Pay Law”) with respect to
the wages, components, periods and rates for which the deposit alone was made.

Defined contribution plans
The Business’s severance pay liability to its employees for which the said liability is covered under section 14 of the Severance Pay Law is
covered by regular deposits with defined contribution plans. The amounts funded as above are not reflected in the statements of financial

position.

The amounts recognized as expense in respect of defined contribution plans in 2020 and 2019 are $28 thousand and $13 thousand,
respectively.

NOTE 9 - COST OF REVENUES:

Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
Payroll and related expenses 25 6
Traffic acquisition costs 2,090 1,238
Other 2 -

2,117 1,244

NOTE 10 - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES:

Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

Payroll and related expenses 219 162
Other 11 4

230 166
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CYBERKICK BUSINESS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 11 - SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES:

Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
Payroll and related expenses 358 103
Other 93 155
451 258
NOTE 12 - GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES:
Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
Payroll and related expenses 21 17
Professional services 106 27
Other 20 30

147 74

NOTE 13 - RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES:

“Related Parties” - As defined in IAS 24. Key management personnel - included together with other entities in the said definition of “related
parties” in IAS 24, include the members of the Board of Directors and senior executives.

Compensation to key management personnel for work services they provide to the CyberKick Business is as follows:

Year ended December 31
2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
Payroll and related expenses 261 90
261 90

As of December 31, 2020 there were no related parties open balances, and as of December 31, 2019 there were related parties open balances of
$32 thousand.

NOTE 14 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:
a. Options to employees

On June 30, 2021, the Company granted to 2 employees of the CyberKick Business fully vested options to purchase 5,296 ordinary shares
of the Company at exercise prices between $0 to $0.8 per share. On July 1, 2021, all options were exercised.

b. Acquisition by Safe-T

As described in Note 1, on July 4, 2021, Safe-T purchased all of the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company for a total
consideration of $9.3 million, which consisted of cash consideration of $3.7 million and equity consideration of $5.6 million.

The consideration may be increased by an additional earn-out payment of up to $3 million to the founders of Takoomi and the CyberKick

Business, subject to certain revenue targets of Company during the first and second year following the closing of the transaction, provided
that the entitlement shall be only of the founders who are still employed by the Company at such time.
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CYBERKICK BUSINESS

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(UNAUDITED)
June 30, December 31,
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands
Assets
CURRENT ASSETS:
Trade receivables 795 338
Other receivables 8 -
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 803 338
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Deferred tax assets 67 54
Intangible assets, net 23 28
Property and equipment, net 2 3
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 92 85

TOTAL ASSETS 895 423

Liabilities and net parent investment

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Related parties 12 -
Trade payables 362 113
Other payables 299 345
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 673 458
TOTAL LIABILITIES 673 458
NET PARENT INVESTMENT -
Parent investment (deficit) 222 (35)
TOTAL NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT) 222 (35)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT) 895 423

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(UNAUDITED)
Six-month period
ended June 30
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands

REVENUES 2,291 2,177
COST OF REVENUES 1,020 1,139
GROSS PROFIT 1,271 1,038
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Research and development expenses 655 83

Selling and marketing expenses 979 145

General and administrative expenses 52 46
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,686 274
OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) (415) 764
FINANCIAL EXPENSE, net 14 *
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME (429) 764
TAXES ON INCOME 17 (177)
NET PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD (446) 587

*  Less than $1 thousand.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET PARENT INVESTMENT (DEFICIT)

(UNAUDITED)

Parent
investment
(deficit)

Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2021
Share-based payments
Net transfer from Parent
Loss for the period

BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2021

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2020
Net transfer to Parent
Net profit for the period

BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2020

(35) (35)
479 479
224 224
(446) (446)
222 222
124 124
(718) (718)
587 587

@) @

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.




CYBERKICK BUSINESS
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net profit (loss) for the period
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Share-based payments
Changes in deferred tax assets

Changes in operating asset and liability items:
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Increase in other receivables
Increase (decrease) in related parties
Increase in trade payables
Decrease in other payables

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -
Net transfer from (to) Parent
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

*  Less than $1 thousand.

Six-month period
ended June 30

2021 2020

U.S. dollars in thousands

(446) 587
5 *
479 -
(13) (6)
471 (6)
457) 225
®) @)
12 (25)
250 100
(46) (155)
(249) 138
(224) 719
= @)

- (1)
224 (718)
224 (718)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.




CYBERKICK LTD.

NOTES TO CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1 - GENERAL:

On July 1, 2021, Takoomi Ltd. (“Takoomi or the “Parent”) entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with Safe-T Group Ltd.
(“Safe-T”) and the shareholders of Takoomi. Pursuant to the SPA, immediately prior to the Closing (as defined in the SPA), Takoomi will
transfer and assign certain assets as well as intellectual property rights (the “CyberKick Business” or “Business”) to CyberKick Ltd.
(“CyberKick* or the “Company”), and accordingly, Safe-T will purchase all of the issued and outstanding share capital of CyberKick.

CyberKick was incorporated on May 3, 2021 by the shareholders of Takoomi as a special purpose vehicle organized as a company,
designated solely to facilitate the transaction, as described herein.

The transaction closed on July 4, 2021. Until the said date, the CyberKick Business was a part of Takoomi’s activities as described herein.

The CyberKick Business provides solutions for security and privacy tools developers, as well as to security and privacy tools consumers.
NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION:

a.  Basis of presentation of financial statements

The CyberKick Business’s interim financial statements for the six months period ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, have been prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”.

These interim financial statements, which are unaudited, do not include all the information and disclosures that would otherwise be
required in a complete set of annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements as of
December 31, 2020 and their accompanying notes, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as published by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The results of operations for the six months period ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may
be expected for the entire fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, or for any other interim period.

b. Estimates
The preparation of interim financial statements requires the CyberKick Business’s management to exercise its judgment and to use
significant accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Business’s accounting policies and the amounts of
reported assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may materially differ from those estimates.
In preparation of these interim financial statements, the significant judgments that were exercised by the management in applying the
Business’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were similar to those applied in the Business’s annual
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these interim financial statements are consistent with those applied in the preparation of
the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2020, except for as described below.




CYBERKICK LTD.

NOTES TO CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based compensation plans for employees, directors and service providers of the CyberKick Business. As part
of the plans, the Company grants employees, directors and service providers of the CyberKick Business, from time to time and at its
discretion, options to purchase Company shares. The total amount recognized as an expense over the vesting period of the options (the period
during which all vesting conditions are expected to be met) was determined as follows:

1) Share based payments to employees and directors by reference to the fair value of the equity instrument granted at date of grant.
2) Share based payments to service providers by reference to the fair value of the service provided.

The Business uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to estimate the grant date fair value. In estimating this fair value, there are
certain assumptions that the Business uses to determine the amount of share-based payments, consisting of the fair value of the Company's
ordinary shares, expected life of the option, risk free interest rate, dividend yield, and volatility. The use of a different estimate for any of
these components could have a material impact on the amount of calculated compensation expense. Share-based compensation expenses are
included within “Net transfer from (to) Parent”.

NOTE 4 - TRADE RECEIVABLES:

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the trade receivables balance comprises open accounts.

The CyberKick Business did not record a provision for credit losses as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and has no customers that
exceed their customary credit terms.

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, a single customer represented 62% and 90%, respectively, of trade receivable. For the periods ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, a single customer represented 60% and 86%, respectively, of total revenues.

NOTE 5 - OTHER PAYABLE:

June 30, June 30,
2021 2020

U.S. dollars in thousands

Employees and related institutions 81 42
Accrued expenses 218 51

299 93

NOTE 6 - REVENUES:

Six-month period
ended June 30
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands

Advertising revenues 2,017 2,177
Subscription revenues 274 -

2,291 2,177




CYBERKICK LTD.

NOTES TO CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 7 - SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS:

On June 30, 2021, the Company granted to 2 employees of the CyberKick Business fully vested options to purchase 5,296 ordinary shares of
the Company at exercise prices between $0 to $0.8 per share. The fair value of the options at date of grant totaled to $479 thousand.

Share-based expenses for the six-month period ended June 30, 2021 were $479 thousand, out of which $470 thousand was recorded under
“research and development expense” and $9 thousand under “general and administrative expenses”.

NOTE 8 - TAXES ON INCOME:

The calculation of income taxes during the reporting period is based on the best projection of the weighted average of the projected income
tax rate for the full taxable year. The average projected tax rate of the CyberKick Business for the year ended December 31, 2021, is 23%.

NOTE 9 - RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES:

"Related Parties" - As defined in IAS 24. Key management personnel - included together with other entities in the said definition of "related
parties" in IAS 24, include the members of the Board of Directors and senior executives.

Compensation to key management personnel for work services they provide to the CyberKick Business is as follows:

Six-month period
ended June 30
2021 2020
U.S. dollars in thousands

Payroll and related expenses 139 62

139 62

As of June 30, 2021 there were related parties open balances of $12 thousand, and as of December 31, 2020 there were no related parties open
balances.

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

a. As described in Note 1, on July 4, 2021, Safe-T purchased all of the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company for a total
consideration of $9.3 million, which consisted of cash consideration of $3.7 million and equity consideration of $5.6 million.
The consideration may be increased by an additional earn-out payment of up to $3 million to the founders of Takoomi and the
CyberKick Business, subject to certain revenue targets of Company during the first and second year following the closing of the
transaction, provided that the entitlement shall be only of the founders who are still employed by the Company at such time.

b.

On July 1, 2021, all options were exercised into 5,296 ordinary shares of the Company. See Note 7 for further information.




Exhibit 99.5
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this section may be deemed to be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Exchange
Act and Section 27A of the Securities Act. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“estimate” and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are based largely on management’s expectations and are subject to a number of
uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from these forward-looking statements. Neither Safe-T Ltd. (hereinafter “Safe-T” or “the Company”)
nor CyberKick Ltd. (hereinafter “CyberKick”) undertake any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements. For a more
complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties, which may affect such forward-looking statements, please refer to the section entitled “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 22, 2021 (the “Annual Report”).

2

On July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) by and among Takoomi Ltd. (“Takoomi”), the
shareholders of Takoomi and CyberKick, a special purpose vehicle, designated solely to facilitate the transaction, as further described herein.

Pursuant to the SPA, immediately prior to the Closing (as defined in the SPA), Takoomi will transfer and assign certain assets as well as
intellectual property rights (the “CyberKick Business”) to CyberKick, and accordingly, the Company will purchase all of the issued and outstanding share
capital of CyberKick.

On July 4, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition. Until the said date, the CyberKick Business was a part of Takoomi’s activities as
described herein. The CyberKick Business provides solutions for security and privacy tools developers and consumers.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of profit or loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, combines the historical
unaudited consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Company for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and the historical unaudited statement of profit
or loss of the CyberKick Business for the six months ended June 30, 2021.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, combines the historical
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the historical statement of profit or loss of the
CyberKick Business for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statements of profit or loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and for the year ended
December 31, 2020, give effect to the business combination as if it had been completed on January 1, 2020.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, combines the historical consolidated
statement of financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2021, and the historical statement of financial position of the CyberKick Business as of
June 30, 2021.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, gives effect to the business combination as if
it had been completed on June 30, 2021.

The allocation of the purchase price in the business combination as reflected in these pro forma combined condensed financial statements has
been based upon estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the business combination. Management, with the
assistance of independent valuation specialists, is currently assessing the final fair values of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. A final determination of the fair value of CyberKick’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed is still subject to the completion of further
analyses from those used in the combined condensed pro forma financial statements presented below.




The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements do not include liabilities resulting from integration planning. Amounts
allocated to goodwill may significantly decrease and amounts allocated to intangible assets with definite lives may increase significantly, which could
result in a material increase in amortization of acquired intangible assets. Therefore, the actual amounts recorded as of the completion of the valuation
may differ materially from the information presented in the accompanying unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements. In addition to
the receipt of the final valuation, the impact of ongoing integration activities, the timing of completion of the transaction and other changes in
CyberKick’s net tangible and intangible assets that occur prior to completion of the transaction could cause material differences in the information
presented.

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements are not necessarily an indication of the results that would have been achieved
had the transaction been completed as of the dates indicated or that may be achieved in the future. The unaudited pro forma combined condensed
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the respective historical financial statements and the notes thereto of both the Company and the
CyberKick Business, which are included in, respectively, in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020,
and the Report on Form 6-K with which these unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements are included.

On September 19, 2021, the Company’s shareholders approved a reverse split of the ordinary share capital of the Company by a ratio of 40:1, to
be effective at a date to be determined by the Company. The reverse split became effective on October 15, 2021. This operation is not affecting the
Company’s American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), hence following effectiveness the new ratio between the ordinary shares and the ADSs is set at 1:1
instead of the previous 40:1 ratio.

All descriptions of the Company’s share capital in these unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements, including share amounts
and per share amounts, are presented after giving effect to the reverse split.




Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Impairment of goodwill

Contingent consideration measurement
Total operating expenses

Operating profit (loss)
Financial income (expenses), net

Profit (loss) before taxes on income
Tax benefit (taxes on income)

Net loss for the year

Loss per ordinary share (in dollars):
Basic

Diluted

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2020
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

used to compute (in thousands):
Basic

Diluted

Pro
Safe-T CyberKick Adjustments Note forma

4,886 4,341 - 9,227
2,499 2,117 79 (1) 4,695
2,387 2,224 (79) 4,532
2,202 230 1 1) 2,433
4215 451 423 1) 5,089
4,197 147 - Q) 4,344
2,759 = - 2,759
345 - - 345
13,718 828 424 14,970
(11,331) 1,396 (503) (10,438)
3,240 (58) - 3,182
(8,091) 1,338 (503) (7,256)
246 (311) 100 “) 35
(7,845) 1,027 (403) (7,221)
0.71) 3) (0.48)
(0.84) 3) (0.58)
11,074 3) 15,136
11,387 3) 15,449

See Notes to Unaudited Pro forma Combined Financial Statements




Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Statement of Profit or Loss
For the six months ended June 30, 2021
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Contingent consideration measurement
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Financial expenses
Financial income

Financial expenses, net

Loss before taxes on income
Tax benefit (taxes on income)
Net loss for the period

Loss per ordinary share (in dollars):
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

used to compute (in thousands):
Basic

Diluted

Pro
Safe-T CyberKick Adjustments Note forma
3,131 2,291 = 5,422
1,883 1,020 40 ) 2,943
1,248 1,271 (40) 2,479
1,483 655 1 0 2,139
2,430 979 211 1 3,620
2,588 52 (50) ) 2,590
(434) - - (434)
6,067 1,686 162 7,915
(4,819) (415) (202) (5,436)
(183) (14) - (197)
43 S s 43
(140) (14) - (154)
(4,959) (429) (202) (5,590)
76 (17) 50 ) 109
(4,883) (446) (152) (5,481)
(0.20) 3) 0.19)
(0.20) 3) (0.19)
24,637 3) 28,699
24,637 3) 28,699

See Notes to Unaudited Pro forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements




Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable:
Trade, net
Other
Total current assets
Non-current Assets:
Long-term restricted deposits
Long-term deposit
Property and equipment, net
Right of use assets
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accruals:

Trade

Other
Contract liabilities
Contingent consideration

Derivative financial instruments

Short-term lease liabilities
Related parties
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term contract liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities

Long-term contingent consideration

Deferred tax liabilities

Liability in respect of the Israeli Innovation Authority
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities
Equity:
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Other equity reserves
Accumulated deficit
Parent investment (deficit)
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Statement of Financial Position

As of June 30, 2021
(U.S. dollars in thousands)
Pro
Safe-T CyberKick Adjustments Note forma
13,122 - (3,700) (a) 9,422
6,182 - - 6,182
615 795 (795) (c) 615
544 8 (8) (c) 544
20,463 803 (4,503) 16,763
89 - - 89
57 - - 57
124 2 - (b) (¢) 126
605 - - 605
3,845 23 3,997 (b) 7,865
5,387 - 6,311 (b) 11,698
= 67 (67) © -
10,107 92 10,241 20,440
30,570 895 5,738 37,203
280 362 (362) (©) 280
1,668 299 (299) (c) 1,668
403 - - 403
250 - - 250
1,553 - - 1,553
367 - - 367
- 12 (12) () -
4,521 673 (673) 4,521
38 - - 38
347 - - 347
673 - 825 (b) 1,498
158 - - 158
1,216 - 825 2,041
5,737 673 152 6,562
- - - (b) -
85,159 - 5,808 (b) (d) 90,967
15,089 - - (c) 15,089
(75,415) - - (c) (75,415)
- 222 (222) (c) -
24,833 222 5,586 30,641
30,570 895 5,738 37,203

See Notes to Unaudited Pro forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements




Notes to Unaudited Pro forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements

On July 1, 2021, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) by and among Takoomi Ltd. (“Takoomi”), the shareholders
of Takoomi and CyberKick, a special purpose vehicle, designated solely to facilitate the transaction, as further described herein.

Pursuant to the SPA, immediately prior to the Closing (as defined in the SPA), Takoomi will transfer and assign certain assets as well as intellectual
property rights (the “CyberKick Business”) to CyberKick, and accordingly, the Company will purchase all of the issued and outstanding share capital of
CyberKick.

On July 4, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition. Until the said date, the CyberKick Business was a part of Takoomi’s activities as
described herein. The CyberKick Business provides solutions for security and privacy tools developers and consumers.

The initial consideration paid was $9.3 million, which consisted of cash consideration of $3.7 million and equity consideration of $5.6 million paid
by the issuance of 4,062,045 ordinary shares of the Company.

The consideration may be increased by an additional earn-out payment of up to $3 million to CyberKick founders, subject to certain revenue targets
of CyberKick during the first and second year following the closing of the transaction, provided that the entitlement shall be only of the founders who are

still engaged by CyberKick at such time. The Company may decide, at its sole discretion, to pay the earn-out consideration in equity, in whole or in part.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, gives effect to the business combination as if it
had been completed on June 30, 2021.

The unaudited combined condensed pro forma statements of profit or loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and for the year ended
December 31, 2020, give effect to the business combination as if it had been completed on January 1, 2020. The unaudited combined condensed pro
forma statements of profit or loss do not include any non-recurring charges, directly attributable to the business combination. The pro forma adjustments

are based on preliminary estimates, which may change as additional information is obtained.

Adjustments to unaudited combined condensed pro forma statements of profit or loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

(1) Amortization of intangible assets acquired in connection with the business combination. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the following number of years: Technologies — 10 years, which such amortization recorded under cost of revenues; Customer relations — 2 - 8 years,
which such amortization recorded under selling and marketing expenses.

(2) Add back of transaction costs recorded in the six months ended June 30, 2021.

(3) The calculation of the weighted average number of shares for pro forma loss per share gives effect to the issuance of 4,062,045 Company shares
in the transaction assuming these were issued on January 1, 2020.

(4) Reflects the tax effect of the pro forma adjustments, using the applicable tax rates.
Adjustments to unaudited combined condensed pro forma statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021.
(a) An amount of $3.7 million of the total consideration in the transaction was paid in cash.

(b) The fair values of CyberKick’s net assets have been estimated for the purpose of allocating the purchase price and determining the pro forma
effect of the acquisition on the unaudited combined condensed pro forma financial statements.




The estimated purchase price of $9,508 thousand has been calculated and preliminarily assigned to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired as
follows:

U.S. in
thousands
Purchase price calculation:
Cash consideration 3,700
Share consideration* 5,808
Total purchase price 9,508

*  Issuance of 4,062,045 ordinary shares based on Safe-T’s market price per share of approximately $1.43 (closing price on the Tel Aviv Stock
Exchange as of July 4, 2021, translated into U.S. dollars)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities:

Property and equipment, net 2
Technologies 792
Customer relations 3,228
Deferred tax liabilities (825)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 3,197
Goodwill 6,311
Total purchase price 9,508

(c) Elimination of all components of CyberKick’ equity, and elimination of all components of the CyberKick Business assets and liabilities, not
transferred to CyberKick as a part of the business combination.

(d) The issuance of 4,062,045 ordinary shares of the Company as a part consideration in the transaction at a fair value of 5,808 thousand.




Exhibit 99.6

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL AND (ii)
WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO SAFE-T GROUP LTD. IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. OMISSIONS ARE DENOTED IN
BRACKETS THROUGHOUT THIS EXHIBIT.

SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Share Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 1st day of July, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and
among Takoomi Ltd., a company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Israel (the “Company”), Safe-T Group Ltd., a company organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Israel (the “Purchaser”), Cyberkick Ltd., a special purpose vehicle organized as company and existing under
the laws of the State of Israel (“SPV”), Mr. Roni Lev, Israeli ID# [**] and Mr. Yotam Benattia, Israeli ID# [**] (the “Founders”) and the Optionholders,
in their capacity of prospective Sellers (together with the Founders: the “Sellers”). The Company, the Purchaser, SPV and Sellers are referred to
collectively herein as the “Parties” and separately as a “Party”. A list of all Sellers is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

WHEREAS, Company is engaged in the business of SaaS security and privacy tools (the “Business”); and

WHEREAS, the Sellers have incorporated the SPV as a special purpose vehicle, designated solely to facilitate the transactions contemplated
herein and thereby;

WHEREAS, immediately prior to the Closing (as defined below), and as a condition thereto, Company shall transfer and assign to the SPV, at
no cost to SPV, free and clear of any obligations, liabilities and/or encumbrances other than as herein prescribed, all of Company’s right, title, and interest
in and to certain Purchased Assets as well as related agreements, including all patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property
rights therein and thereto all as specified herein, and accordingly, Purchaser desires to purchase all security interests of the SPV;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises herein made, and in consideration of the representations,
warranties, and covenants herein contained, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties agree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

In addition to other defined items in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
1.1.1 ~ “102 Trustee” means [**]
1.1.2  “ADS” means American Depository Shares.
1.1.3  “Affiliate” means any Entity which controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, a Person. For the purpose
herein “Control” means the holding of more than fifty percent (50%) of (i) the equity (ii) the voting rights or (iii) the right to
elect or appoint directors.

1.1.4  “Business Day” means any day other than Friday or Saturday, or a day on which the banks in Israel are closed.

1.1.5 “Closing Consideration” means (i) the Base Closing Consideration, less (ii) any Debt, less, without duplications.




1.1.11

1.1.12

1.1.13

1.1.14

1.1.15

1.1.16

1.1.17

1.1.18

1.1.19

“Ancillary Agreements” means all agreements, documents and instruments provided for or contemplated herein.

“Assumed Liabilities” means Liabilities (i) arising following the Closing with respect to the Purchased Assets; and/or (ii) only
if arising from the costs incurred in the ordinary course of business.

“Business” has the meaning set forth in the first Recital hereof.
“Base Closing Consideration” means US$9,300,000 in cash and equity blend as described herein.

“Cause” means any of the following events: (i) conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any felony or any crime by
a Seller, or other felonies involving moral turpitude, (including but not limited to acts of theft, embezzlement or fraud); (ii)
Seller breaches his non-disclosure or assignment of inventions undertaking toward Purchaser Group, (iii) Seller breaches its
fiduciary duties towards the Purchaser Group ((ii)-(iii) provided that the Founder was provided with a written notice and 30 days
to cure such failure and/or breach specified under (ii)-(iii) to the extent such breach is curable, and failed to cure the same during
such 30 day period), (iv) a material breach of trust by Seller (including the embezzlement of funds of Purchaser Group), (v)
involvement of any sexual harassment of any personnel of the Purchaser Group.

“SPV Option” means any option, warrant and/or other convertible instrument which exercise thereof results in receiving any
shares of the SPV.

“Debt” shall mean as of the Closing Date, without duplication, the Indebtedness of the SPV, and/or of the Company - if would
be deemed as an Assumed Liability, whether or not recognized as such in accordance with IFRS.

“Domain Names” means all internet electronic addresses, uniform resource locators and alphanumeric designations associated
therewith and all registrations for any of the foregoing.

[Reserved]

“Disability” shall mean the inability of the Seller to substantially perform the functions of his position by reason of any
medically diagnosed physical or mental impairment which is expected to result in eminent death or has lasted or is reasonably
expected to last for a continuous period of at least three (3) months, as shall be evidenced by a medical certificate issued by a
physician in the field causing such disability.

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

“End Users” shall mean any and all Persons who have downloaded or otherwise used any of the Transferred Software before
the Closing Date.

“Entity” means any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability
partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, company (including any limited liability company or joint stock company), firm or other
enterprise, association, organization or entity.

“Escrow Fund” means (i) an amount of US $370,000 deposited in immediately available funds, and (ii) an amount of US$
US$560,000 (by way of issuance to the Escrow Agent, for the benefit of the Sellers), reflecting such number of Consideration
Shares (rounded up to the nearest whole number), all out of the Total Consideration.




1.1.20

1.1.21

1.1.22

1.1.23

1.1.24

1.1.25

1.1.26

1.1.27

“Excluded Assets” means assets of the Company and the Sellers, other than (a) assets associated with the Business and/or the
Purchased Assets, or otherwise required or necessary for the proper and ongoing operation and activity of the Business; (b)
account receivables from sales of products or services that originated prior to the Closing, if made in accordance with past
practices in ordinary course. Excluded Assets shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, rights to tax refunds or tax credits with
respect to any tax periods or portions thereof, whether or not associated with the Business and/or the Purchased Assets, ending
on or prior to the Closing Date)

“Excluded Liabilities” means any and all Liabilities of Company, whether or not related to the Business and/or the Purchased
Assets, other than Assumed Liabilities. For the avoidance of doubt, and without derogating from the generality of the foregoing,
“Excluded Liabilities” include, unless otherwise specified herein (a) all Liabilities to any employees or service providers
(whether under law, contract or custom) arising from facts or circumstances occurring on or prior to the Closing Date excluding
any rights of the employees in connection with the period prior to the Closing Date which have been offset pursuant to Section
7.4, and (c) all Liabilities associated with any Purchased Assets that arose prior to or on the Closing Date, regardless of whether
any such Liabilities are determined or asserted after the Closing Date (d) any Liabilities associated with the Excluded Assets.

“Escrow Agent” means [**]

“Exchange Act” means the US federal Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“Fully Diluted” means all issued and outstanding share capital of the SPV, all securities issuable upon the conversion of any
existing convertible securities or loans, the exercise of all outstanding warrants, options, options reserved (whether promised,
allocated or unallocated, vested or unvested), and issuance of securities pursuant to any anti-dilution rights of existing
shareholders (if any).

“Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other
jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; or (c) governmental or quasi-
governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality,
official, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or other tribunal).

“Good Reason” means (i) death or Disability of a Seller, (ii) the effective diminution by the Purchaser Group of a Seller’s
position with the Purchaser Group in such manner resulting in Seller not holding an executive or a quasi-executive position (i.e.
C-level), (iii) any material breach by a member of the Purchaser Group of the terms of a Seller’s engagement, (iv) a material
reduction in the Seller’s compensation terms or other material benefit thereof, taken as a whole, which is not applied on a broad
basis to applicable senior management of Purchaser.

“Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all of the rights in, arising out of, or associated with throughout the world in or
to:

(6] all United States and foreign patents (including utility models) and applications therefor, including provisional
applications, and all reissues, reexaminations, divisions, renewals, extensions, continuations and continuations-in-part
thereof (‘“Patents”);




1.1.28

1.1.29

1.1.30

1.1.31

1.1.32

(ii) all inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures, improvements, trade secrets, proprietary information,
know-how, technology and technical data (“Trade Secrets”);

(iii) all United States and foreign copyrights, copyright registrations and applications therefor and all other rights
corresponding thereto throughout the world; and

(iv) all United States and foreign trademarks, service marks, trade names, Domain Names, logos, brand names and trade
dress, whether registered or unregistered, and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the world.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money; (b) all
obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments for the payment of which such Person
is responsible or liable; (c) all reimbursement obligations of such Person with respect to letters of credit and similar instruments;
(d) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale; (e) all obligations of such Person incurred, issued or assumed as the
deferred purchase price of property other than accounts payable incurred and paid on terms customary in the business of such
Person (it being understood that the “deferred purchase price” in connection with any purchase of property or assets shall
include only that portion of the purchase price which shall be deferred beyond the date on which the purchase is actually
consummated); (f) all obligations secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or
otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured
thereby have been assumed; (g) all obligations of such Person under forward sales, futures, options, swaps, collars, caps and
other similar hedging arrangements (including interest rate hedging or protection agreements); (h) all obligations of such Person
to purchase or otherwise pay for merchandise, materials, supplies, services or other property under an arrangement which
provides that the entire payment for such merchandise, materials, supplies, services or other property shall be made regardless of
whether delivery of such merchandise, materials, supplies, services or other property is ever made or tendered; (i) all guaranties
by such Person of obligations of others; and (j) all liabilities of such Person under leases required to be accounted for as capital
leases under IFRS.

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards.

“Israeli Securities Law” means the Israeli Securities Law - 1968.

“ITA” means Israeli Tax Authorities.

“Liabilities” means any and all debts, liabilities, payables, commitments, obligations, and the costs or expenses related thereto,
whether absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, matured or unmatured, determined or
undeterminable, and whether or not accrued or reflected on a balance sheet, including those arising under any law, contract or

proceeding (regardless of whether such liabilities arising under such law, contract or proceeding are required to be reflected on a
balance sheet in accordance with IFRS), whether or not accrued or contingent.




1.1.33

1.1.34

1.1.35

1.1.36

1.1.37

1.1.38

1.1.39

1.1.40

1.1.41

1.1.42

1.1.43

1.1.44

1.1.45

“Liens” means all mortgages, liens, pledges, charges, security interests, right of first refusal, preemptive right, call, community
property interest or other similar encumbrances of any kind or nature whatsoever.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material and adverse effect on the assets, properties, financial conditions, operating results
related to the Purchased Assets and/or the Business as currently conducted, excluding any state of facts, change, effect,
condition, development, event or occurrence arising from or related to (i) changes in general economic conditions, capital
market, financial, political or regulatory conditions, (ii) changes affecting the industry and/or market in which the Company
operates generally; (iii) any act of war, sabotage or terrorism, any military action or the escalation thereof, (iv) changes in
applicable laws or accounting rules or principles, (v) the execution and delivery of this Agreement and/or the Ancillary
Agreements or the announcement, pendency or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and/or the
Ancillary Agreements, and (vi) any action taken by the Company and/or Sellers at the Purchaser’s request or to comply with the
express terms of this Agreement and/or the Ancillary Agreements or of the transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder.

“Open Source Code” means any software code that is distributed as “free software” or “open source software” or is otherwise
distributed publicly in source code form under terms that permit modification and redistribution of such software. Open Source
Code includes without limitation software code that is licensed under the GNU General Public License, GNU Lesser General
Public License, Mozilla License, Common Public License, Apache License, BSD License, Artistic License, or Sun Community
Source License.

“Optionholder” means any holder of an SPV Option.

“Ordinance” means the Israeli Tax Ordinance [New Version] 5721-1961, as amended, and all rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, as may be amended from time to time, including, and publications and clarifications issued by the ITA.

“Consideration Shares” means Company’s Ordinary Shares, no par value.

“Paying Agent” means [**]

“Party” and “Parties” have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

“Person” means any individual or Entity.

“Purchased Assets” means, collectively, (i) the Transferred Software, (ii) the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, (iii) the
Purchased Contracts; (v) the Transferred Equity, (v) Transferred Cash, (vi) Transferred Equipment, (vi) all of the goodwill
associated with the Business (of the Company and/or the Sellers).

“Purchased Contracts” means all contracts underlying the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities.

“Purchaser Group” means the Purchaser, SPV and/or any of their Affiliates.

“SEC” means the Securities Exchange Commission.




1.1.46

1.1.47

1.1.48

1.1.49

1.1.50

1.1.51

1.1.52

1.1.53

1.1.54

1.1.55

1.1.56

1.1.57

1.1.58

1.1.59

1.1.60

1.1.61

1.1.62

“SEC Reports” means the reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by the Purchaser
under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, each as amended, including
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof, for the two years preceding the date hereof (or such shorter period as the Purchaser
was required by law or regulation to file such material).

“Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“Section 102” means Section 102 of the Ordinance.

“Section 102 Options” means any SPV Options and/or underlying shares granted under Section 102.

“Section 102 Shares” means any shares issued upon the exercise of the Section 102 Options.

“Section 102 Securities” means the Section 102 Shares and Section 102 Options.

“Software” means any and all computer software, documentation, code and other materials, including assemblers, applets,
compilers, source code, source code listings, object code, algorithms, data (including image and sound data), manuals,
instructions, samples, examples, content, charts, diagrams, design tools and user interfaces, in any form or format, however
fixed.

“SPV ESOP” means the Cyberkick Ltd. 2021 Share Option Plan.

“Subsidiaries” means (a) iShield, Inc., incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, and (b) Spell Me Ltd.,
incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Seychelles.

“Third Party Approvals” means any notice, approval or consent that are necessary in order to consummate the transactions set
forth herein including without limitation the approval by [**] (as defined in the Disclosure Schedule).

“Third Party Software” means any Software that is a component of or necessary to compile the Transferred Software and that
is not owned by Company.

“Total Consideration” means the Closing Consideration plus the Earn-Out Consideration (if becoming due and payable).
“Trading Day” means a day on which the principal Trading Market is open for trading.

“Trading Market” means Nasdaq.

“Transferred Cash” means an amount of USS$ 0.

“Transferred Equity” means the entire issued and outstanding share capital of each of the Subsidiaries, on a fully diluted basis.
“Transferred Intellectual Property Rights” means all Company’s Intellectual Property Rights in and to the Business, or used

in or necessary for, or that would be infringed by, the operation of the Business or use, support, reproduction, distribution,
marketing, sale, license or display of the Transferred Software.




1.1.63 “Transferred Software” means all Sellers’ and/or Company’s Software existing as of the Closing Date, related to, used in or
necessary for the operation of the Business, and all Software owned by, or held in the name of Company or otherwise leased,
licensed or transferable by Company, related to, used in or necessary for the operation of the Business, and all related
technology, documentation, customer information and materials, including that described in Schedule 1.1.61. It is hereby
clarified that with respect Third Party Software, only the Transferred Third Party Software constitutes part of the Transferred
Software and/or the Purchased Assets.

1.1.64 “Transferred Equipment” means all of the equipment directly associated with the Purchased Assets.

1.1.65 “Transferred Third Party Software” means all Seller’s rights to the Third Party Software listed in Schedule 4.9.7 of the
Disclosure Schedule.

1.1.66 “User Data” means any Personal Information (as defined below) or other data or information collected by or on behalf of the
Company from End Users.

1.1.67 “Valid Tax Certificate” means a valid certificate, ruling or any other written instructions regarding tax withholding, issued by
the ITA in the form and substance satisfactory to the Paying Agent, that is applicable to the payments to be made to any Person
pursuant to this Agreement, stating that no withholding, or reduced withholding, of Israeli tax is required with respect to such
payment or providing other instructions regarding such payment or withholding.

2. TRANSACTION
2.1. Purchase of Shares.

2.1.1. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing (as defined below), the Purchaser shall purchase from each
of the Sellers and each of the Sellers shall sell to the Purchaser, all of the securities held by the Sellers at the Closing, constituting on the Closing Date,
the entire issued and outstanding share capital of the SPV, on a Fully Diluted basis (the “Purchased Shares”).

2.2. Consideration.

2.2.1. In consideration for the sale, transfer and conveyance of the Purchased Shares and all other transactions contemplated hereto and thereby,
the Purchaser shall pay the Sellers, subject to applicable adjustments and provisions hereto, an aggregate amount of up to US$12,300,000 comprising the
Closing Consideration and Earn-Out Consideration in accordance with such Seller’s respective portion of the Closing Consideration and/or Earn-Out

Considerations, as applicable, as specified opposite such Seller’s name in Exhibit A, as follows:

2.3. Closing Consideration:

2.3.1.1. At the Closing, an amount in cash of US$3,700,000 of the Base Closing Consideration shall be deposited by the
Purchaser with the Paying Agent (the “Closing Cash Consideration”);

2.3.1.2. At the Closing, an amount of US$ US$5,600,000 (by way of issuance to the Paying Agent, for the benefit of the
Sellers), reflecting such number of Consideration Shares (rounded up to the nearest whole number), reflecting the price per ADS of the average weighted
average closing price of such securities traded on Nasdaq (“VWAP”), as of April 11, 2021 (the “Commencement Date”), and until the Trading Day
which is June 29, 2021 (the “Effective ADS Price”), multiplied by 40 (or in accordance with the then applicable ratio between the Company’s Ordinary
Shares and ADS’s at the time of payment); provided however, that the Effective ADS Price shall not decrease below, or increase above, 15% of the
VWAP of the seven (7) Trading Days immediately prior to the Closing Date (the “Closing Equity Consideration”).




For illustration purposes, in case that the VWAP for the period commencing at the Commencement Date and ending at the Closing is US$10, then the
Effective ADS Price shall be US$10, and thus resulting in 5,500,000/10%40=22,000,000 Consideration Shares,; however, if in the above case, the VWAP
of the seven (7) Trading Days immediately prior to the Commencement Date was US$7.00, then the Effective ADS Price shall be US$8.05 (reflecting
7*115%) and the number of Consideration Shares issuable hereunder shall be 5,500,000/8.05*%40=27,329,193 Ordinary Shares.

2.4. Earn-Out Consideration:

2.4.1.1. The Founders (which solely for the purpose of this Section 2.4 shall also include David Matrikin) shall be entitled
to a performance-based payment by Purchaser of up to US$3,000,000 (the “Earn-Out Consideration”) in accordance with such Founder’s respective
portion of the Earn-Out Consideration as provided in Exhibit A, in case the SPV was able to timely meet the performance milestones and terms
prescribed in Schedule 2.4.1.1 (the “Milestones”), provided that the entitlement shall be only of the Founder(s) who are still engaged by SPV, Purchaser
or any of the Purchaser Affiliates at such time (in accordance with such Founder’s respective portion of the Earn-Out Consideration to the extent that only
one Founder is engaged with the Company at the applicable time), provided that a Founder shall be deemed ‘engaged’ also in the event that such
engagement of a Founder was terminated by Purchaser or any of the Purchaser Group not for Cause, or by a Founder for Good Reason - The Earn-Out
Consideration shall be divided into two amounts (a) US$1,500,000 (or a linear portion thereof, as further illustrated under Schedule 2.4.1.1 and will be
payable by Purchaser in respect of meeting the applicable Milestones for a 12 months period between July 1, 2021 and June 30, 2022 (the “First Earn-
Out Period”) and (b) US$1,500,000 (or a linear portion thereof) will be payable by Purchaser or SPV in respect of meeting the applicable Milestones for
a 12 months period between July 1, 2022 and June 30, 2023 (the “Second Earn-Out Period”). However, if the Founders fail to meet, partially or in
whole, the Milestones set for the First Earn-Out Period but fully meet the Milestones set for the Second Earn-Out Period, they shall be entitled to the
entire Earn-Out Consideration. Meeting the Milestones, if applicable, shall be determined based on IFRS.

2.4.1.2. The Earn-Out Consideration shall be paid to the Paying Agent in the Consideration Shares, in cash (or any
combination thereto) at the Purchaser’s sole discretion (provided that the cash payment shall not increase the aggregate cash consideration received by
Sellers to more than 40% of the total consideration value (cash and equity)), where the part paid in Consideration Shares shall be calculated based on the
VWAP of the seven (7) Trading Days immediately prior to June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2023, respectively (the “First Earn Out Effective ADS Price”
and the “Second Earn Out Effective ADS Price”, respectively), multiplied by 40 (or in accordance with the then applicable ratio between the
Company’s Ordinary Shares and ADSs at the time of payment), provided however, that if an applicable payment of an Earn-Out Consideration or portion
thereof shall cause a certain Founder to hold more than 9.99% of the share capital of the Purchaser, calculated solely on the basis of the Purchased Shares
issued at Closing (“Exceeding Holdings Portion”), then such Exceeding Holdings Portion shall be paid to such Founder only in cash. Such payments
shall be made (if due) within 30 days from the lapse of each respective Earn-Out Period.

2.5. Treatment of Convertibles:

2.5.1. At the Closing, each (i) outstanding SPV Option that is unexpired, unexercised and outstanding immediately before the Closing, vested
and exercisable as of immediately before the Closing (each, a “Vested SPV Option”) shall be exercised by their respective holder or otherwise expire at
the Closing, and (ii) each outstanding SPV Option that is unexpired, unexercised and outstanding immediately before the Closing, unvested and not
exercisable as of immediately before the Closing (each, an “Unvested SPV Option”), shall immediately expire with no force and effect at the Closing,
without any rights or assumption, redemption and/or substitution by their respective Optionholder. Any shares underlying the Vested PSV Option shall be
deemed as Purchased Shares, and their respective Optionholder shall be deemed as a Seller in all manners and respects.




2.5.2. Except as may be otherwise agreed to by Purchaser no action shall be taken by the Company prior to the Closing to accelerate the vesting
and/or exercisability of any SPV Option (other than in accordance with the existing terms of any such SPV Option), nor to grant any SPV Options other
than to those employees of the Company on the Commencement Date, and the SPV shall cause the provisions in the SPV ESOP providing for the
issuance or grant of any other interest in respect of the SPV to be deleted or otherwise terminated as of the Closing.

2.6. Purchased Contracts. Company shall cause the full and lawful assignment or novation of all the Material Purchased Contracts (as defined below) no
later than the Closing.

3. CLOSING

3.1. The Closing.

3.1.1. Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated herein and thereby (the “Closing™) shall be held by electronic exchange of
documents, subject to the fulfillment of all of the Conditions Precedent (as defined in Section 3.4 below) on or prior to the Drop Dead Date, or at such
other time and place as the Parties mutually agree upon orally or in writing (the date of the Closing being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”).

3.2. Deliveries and Transactions at the Closing. At the Closing, the following transactions shall occur simultaneously (no transaction shall be deemed to
have been completed or any document delivered until all such transactions have been completed and all required documents delivered):

3.2.1. Share Transfer Deeds. The Sellers shall deliver to the Purchaser Share transfer deeds in favor of the Purchaser, duly executed by each of
the Sellers in such form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser and covering the transfer of the Sellers’ Purchased Shares, together with the Sellers’
share certificates covering the Sellers Purchased Shares under the name of the Sellers, or in the absence of such share certificates, affidavit of loss of
share certificate in such form acceptable to Purchaser; in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.13.2.2.

3.2.2. Board Resolutions. The SPV shall deliver to the Purchaser copies of duly executed resolutions of the Board of Directors of the SPV in
such form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser, by which, inter alia: (i) the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement,
including without limitations, the transfer of the Purchased Shares and all documents and agreements ancillary to such agreements (collectively, the
“Ancillary Agreements”) shall have been approved.

3.2.3. Shareholders Resolutions. The SPV shall deliver to the Purchaser copies of duly executed resolutions of its shareholders in such form
reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser, by which, effective as of the Closing (i) the Amended Articles shall have been adopted; and (ii) Mr. Shachar
Daniel has been appointed as the sole director in the SPV and each of the Subsidiaries (the “New Directors”); in the form attached hereto as Schedule
3.2.2.

3.2.4. Share Certificates and Registration. The SPV shall deliver to the Purchaser a duly executed and valid share certificate in the name of the
Purchaser reflecting the Sellers” Purchased Shares transferred to the Purchaser at the Closing, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.4(a). The SPV
shall register the transfer of the Sellers’ Purchased Shares in the SPV’s Shareholder Register and shall deliver a copy of the Shareholder Register to the
Purchaser and the Sellers in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.4(b).




3.2.5. Compliance Certificate. The SPV shall deliver to the Purchaser a certificate in such form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser, duly
executed by the CEO of the SPV, solely in its applicable capacity hereunder, dated as of the Closing Date, such certificate confirming the satisfaction as
of the Closing of the Purchaser’s Conditions Precedent and that all Purchased Assets have been transferred to the SPV in accordance with the terms
herein; substantially in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.1.

3.2.6. Opinion of Counsel. The Company shall deliver to the Purchaser an opinion (substantially in form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.6),
dated as of the Closing Date, of Barnea Law Offices.

3.2.7. Agreements.

3.2.7.1. Each of the Sellers, and the SPV shall enter the employment Agreements in the form attached hereto as Schedule
3.2.7.1(a) and Schedule 3.2.7.1(b).

3.2.7.2. Company shall have assigned all employment agreements with all employees to the SPV or SPV have executed
an employment agreement with such employee, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.8.2, all under continuation of employment scheme.

3.2.7.3. Sellers, Purchaser and Escrow Agent shall enter into an escrow agreement in such form reasonably satisfactory to
the Purchaser (the “Escrow Agreement”), the costs of which shall be borne by the Purchaser.

3.2.7.4. [Reserved].

3.2.7.5. Sellers, Purchaser and the Paying Agent shall enter into a trust agreement in such form reasonably satisfactory to
the Purchaser (the “Paying Agent Agreement”).

3.2.8. Payment. The Purchaser shall deposit the Closing Cash Consideration with the Paying Agent, which shall be by way of a bank transfer in
immediately available funds, pursuant to wiring instructions given in writing by the Paying Agent, and shall provide written confirmation evidencing the
issue of the Closing Equity Consideration under the name of the Sellers.

3.2.9. Purchaser Board Resolutions. The Purchaser shall deliver to the Sellers copies of duly executed resolutions of the Board of Directors of
the Purchaser, by which, inter alia: the execution, delivery and performance by the Purchaser of this Agreement, including without limitations, the
issuance of the Closing Equity Consideration, the Earn Out Consideration and all Ancillary Agreements shall have been approved, in the form attached
hereto as Schedule 3.2.9.

3.2.10. Asset Purchase Agreement. The Sellers shall deliver to the Purchaser, full and complete executed copies of the Asset Purchase
Agreement between the Company and the SPV, pursuant to which all the Assets Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities, have been transferred to the
SPV, all in accordance with the agreement attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.10 (“APA”) and the terms of this Agreement.

3.2.11. Financing by Purchaser. The Purchaser shall remit to the SPV’s bank account the first instalment of the Purchaser Financing (as defined
below).

3.2.12. Proxy. Each Seller shall deliver to Purchaser a duly executed proxy in the form attached hereto as Schedule 3.2.13.
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3.3. Conditions to Closing by the Purchaser. The obligations of the Purchaser to pay the Closing Consideration, is subject to the fulfillment on or before
the Closing of the following conditions precedent (“Purchaser’s Conditions Precedent”), any one or more of which may be waived in whole or in part
by the Purchaser, in its sole discretion.

3.3.1. Accurate Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties set forth in Section 4 below shall be true and correct when
made and, in all material respects, as of the Closing Date as though the Closing Date was substituted for the date set forth in the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement. There has been no Material Adverse Effect, except for the [*] (as defined in the Disclosure Schedule).

3.3.2. Compliance with Covenants. The Company, the SPV and the Sellers, as the case may be, shall have performed and complied with all of its
covenants, agreements and undertakings as set forth herein.

3.3.3. Qualifications and Consents. (a) The Company, SPV and the Sellers, as the case may be in their capacity, shall have obtained all Third
Party Approvals, permits, consents, approvals and authorizations that shall be necessary or required lawfully for the Company, the SPV and the Sellers to
consummate the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements (and all of the foregoing shall be effective as of the Closing),
except the filing of the Amended Articles and the other required notices specified in Schedule 4.4(b) with the Israeli Registrar of Companies (the
“Registrar”) and (b) shall have delivered to the Purchaser on or prior to the Closing of copies of such permits, consents, approvals and authorizations

specified in Schedule 4.4(b).

3.3.4. No Action. With respect to the SPV and/or otherwise in connection the Purchased Assets, no action, suit, or proceeding shall be pending
or threatened before any court or quasi-judicial or administrative agency of any state, municipal, or foreign jurisdiction or before any arbitrator wherein
an unfavorable injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge would: (i) prevent consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement; (ii) cause any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements to be rescinded
following consummation; or (iii) affect adversely the right of the Company to own its material assets or to operate its business as currently conducted or
as currently proposed to be conducted.

3.3.5. Full Transfer. All and no less than all of the Purchased Assets have been duly and fully assigned, transferred and conveyed to SPV at no
cost to SPV, free and clear of any Liens and/or any other encumbrances and/or third-party rights. Without derogating from the general nature of the
foregoing (i) with respect to any Purchased Asset which is a Transferred Third Party Software, irrevocably assign to SPV the license with respect to such
Transferred Third Party Software, and (ii) further irrevocably grant, convey and assign to SPV all of its worldwide right, title and interest in and to any
and all causes of action and rights of recovery for past infringement or misappropriation of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, to be held and
enjoyed by SPV and its successors and assigns. No liabilities have been assumed by the SPV and/or otherwise attached to the Purchased Assets, other
than the Assumed Liabilities, and specifically excluding the Excluded Liabilities. No Purchased Asset shall be subject to, or otherwise contain any right,
data or information to be retained by the Company under the terms hereof and/or otherwise associated with any Excluded Asset.

3.3.6. Actions Taken; Delivery of Documents. All the actions to be taken as set forth in Section 3.2 above and under this Section 3.3.6 shall have
been completed, and all documents to be delivered by the Company and Sellers, as set forth in Section 3.2 above and under this Section 3.3.6, shall be
delivered to the Purchaser.

3.3.6.1. Company shall have delivered to the Purchaser a copy of all documents evidencing the transfer and conveyance
of the Transferred Equity to SPV.

3.3.6.2. The Company, SPV, and Sellers shall have delivered to Purchaser duly executed copies of the Escrow Agreement
and the Paying Agent Agreement.
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3.3.6.3. Company shall have delivered to the Purchaser a copy of the shareholders resolutions evidencing the nomination
of Shachar Daniel as a sole member of the Board of Directors of the SPV and iShield, Inc., and the resignation of all directors then existing prior to the
Closing.

3.3.6.4. Company shall have delivered a duly executed assignment or novation of each of the Purchased Contracts that are
specified in Schedule 3.3.6.5 (“Material Purchased Contracts”);

3.3.7. Proceedings and Documents. All corporate and other proceedings in connection with the deliverable set forth in Section 3.3.6 above in the
form agreed upon with the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified or other copies of such documents
as the Purchaser may reasonably request.

3.3.8. Absence of Material Adverse Changes. From the date hereof until the Closing, there will have been no Material Adverse Effect in the
business condition or prospects of the Company, as such business is presently conducted, except for the [**].

3.4. Conditions to Closing by the Company, SPV and the Sellers. The Company’s, the SPV’s and Sellers’ obligation at the Closing to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby is subject to the satisfaction and fulfillment, prior to or at the Closing, of each of the following conditions precedent
(“Company and Sellers’ Conditions Precedent”, and together with the Purchaser’s Conditions Precedent — “Conditions Precedent”) (any or all of
which may be waived, in whole or in part, by the Company, SPV and the Sellers, but in any event shall the transactions contemplated herein be closed by
the Company, SPV and the Sellers simultaneously):

3.4.1. Accurate Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Purchaser set forth in Section 5 below shall be true
and correct in all material respects when made and as of the Closing Date as though the Closing Date was substituted for the date set forth in the
representations and warranties set forth in Section 5 of this Agreement.

3.4.2. Compliance with Covenants. The Purchaser shall have performed and complied with all of its covenants, agreements, and undertakings as
set forth herein and, without derogation from the generality of the aforesaid, the Closing Consideration is paid to the Sellers at Closing.

3.4.3. No Action. With respect to the Purchaser, the Company, the Sellers and the SPV and/or otherwise in connection the Purchased Assets, no
action, suit, or proceeding shall be pending or threatened before any court or quasi-judicial or administrative agency of any state, municipal, or foreign
jurisdiction or before any arbitrator wherein an unfavorable injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge would: (i) prevent consummation of any
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) cause any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Amended Articles and the
Ancillary Agreements to be rescinded following consummation; or (iii) affect adversely the right of the SPV to own its material assets or to operate its
business as currently conducted or as currently proposed to be conducted.

3.4.4. Ruling. The Company and the Sellers shall have received a preliminary approval from the ITA with respect to transfer of the Purchased

Assets and Assumed Liabilities from the Company to the SPV, pursuant to Section 105 and 103 to the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version],
1961 (the “Tax Ruling”).
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4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY AND SELLERS

The Company and each Seller individually and jointly hereby represents and warrants to the Purchaser that, except as set forth on the Disclosure Schedule
(the “Disclosure Schedule”) attached hereto as Schedule 4, whether or not such Schedule is specifically referenced herein (which the Disclosure
Schedule shall be divided into sections corresponding to the provisions hereof, but shall also apply to other Sections to the extent readily apparent from
their context), the statements contained in this Section 4 will be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date (except if a specific date is
referenced therein, in which case the representation shall be true as of such date) as though the Closing Date was substituted for the date set forth in the
representations and warranties set forth in this Section 4.

For the purpose of this Section 4, unless the context requires otherwise, the term “SPV” shall mean any Subsidiary.

4.1. Organization. The SPV is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Israel and has all requisite corporate power and authority
to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted. The Articles of
Association of the SPV, as currently in effect, were provided to the Purchaser (the “Corporate Documents”). The SPV was incorporated solely for the
purpose of facilitating the transactions contemplated herein and thereby, SPV did not conduct any business prior to the Closing, and does not own any
assets other than the Purchased Assets, and is not subject to any liabilities other than the Assumed Liabilities.

4.2. Authorization. All corporate action on the part of the Company, SPV and the Sellers, and each of their officers, directors and shareholders necessary
for the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements, the performance of all obligations
of the Company and the Sellers hereunder and thereunder, and the authorization, sale and delivery of the Seller’s Purchased Shares have been taken or
will be taken prior to the Closing.

4.3. Validity; No Breach.

4.3.1. This Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements and the documents to be delivered to the Purchaser at the Closing were duly executed by the
Company, SPV and each of the Sellers and at the Closing (assuming the due authorization, execution, and delivery by the Purchaser) shall constitute valid
and legally binding obligations of them, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium, and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) as limited by laws relating
to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief, or other equitable remedies.

4.3.2. The Company and/or SPV is not in violation or default of any provision of its Corporate Documents. The SPV is not in violation or
default of any contract to which it is a party or by which it is directly bound, relating to the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, which would be
likely to cause a Material Adverse Effect to the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities. The execution and the delivery of this Agreement, the
Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not, (i) violate any
law, injunction, court judgment, order, decree, ruling, or other restriction of any Governmental Body, or competent court to which the Company and/or
SPV is directly subject; (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default by the Company, and/or SPV under, result in the acceleration of, create
the right to accelerate, terminate, modify, cancel, or require any notice under any Material Purchased Contracts, or result in the imposition of any Lien,
pledge, claim, charge, encumbrance or third party rights of any kind (the “Security Interest”) upon such assets; or (iii) violate any provision of the
Corporate Documents, (i)-(iii) provided that the same relates solely to the Purchased Assets and/or the Business.
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4.4. Governmental Consents or Third-Party Consents. The Company and/or SPV does not need to give any notice to, make any filing with, or obtain any
authorization, consent, qualification, order or approval from any Governmental Body, or any third party that is a party to a Material Purchased Contract,
in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, including the transfer of the Purchased Shares,
except for such authorizations, consents or approvals as specifically listed in Schedule 4.4(a) which shall have been secured by the Company and/or SPV
prior to the Closing, and such notices and filing with the Registrar, to be filed after the Closing, as listed in Schedule 4.4(b). Each of the shareholders of
the SPV has waived any participation rights it may have had with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

4.5. Capitalization and Title to Shares

4.5.1. Prior to the Closing, the authorized share capital of the SPV consists of 10,000,000 Ordinary Shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share, of
which 111,000 Ordinary Shares are issued and outstanding as set forth in Schedule 4.5.1(a). Except for the SPV ESOP and as set forth in Schedule 4.5.1
(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, the SPV has never adopted, sponsored or maintained any share option plan or any other plan or agreement providing for
equity compensation to any Person. Schedule 4.5.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth for each outstanding SPV Option: (1) the name of the holder
of such option, (2) the domicile address of such holder (to the extent the Company as such information), (3) an indication of whether such holder is an
employee of the SPV or any of the Subsidiaries, (4) the date of grant or issuance of such option, the number of Ordinary Shares subject to such option, (5)
the exercise price of such SPV Option, (6) the vesting schedule for such SPV Option, including the extent vested to the date of this Agreement.

4.5.2. Capitalization. A complete and correct list of all the security holders of the SPV (including, for the avoidance of doubt, holders of all of
the outstanding options, warrants, convertible securities and other rights to purchase or otherwise acquire shares of the Company) immediately prior to
the Closing and immediately following the Closing is as set forth in Schedule 4.5.2 attached hereto. The individuals and entities identified in Schedule
4.5.2 are the holders of record and beneficially of all of the issued and outstanding share capital of the SPV, on a fully-diluted basis and of all rights
thereto, free and clear of any Security Interest, participation rights, restrictions, rights, options to purchase, proxies, voting trust and other voting
agreements, calls or commitments of every kind, and, except as set forth in Schedule 4.5.2, there are no other shares, options, warrants, convertible
securities or other rights (including participation rights) to subscribe for, purchase or acquire any share capital of the SPV from the SPV, or from each of
the other shareholders of the SPV listed therein.

4.5.3. Valid Issuance. The share capital of the SPV outstanding on the date hereof is all duly and validly authorized and issued, fully paid and
non-assessable, was issued free of any participation rights or Security Interest, and was issued in compliance with all applicable laws.

4.6. Ownership of Ordinary Shares. The Purchased Shares being purchased by the Purchaser hereunder, when transferred, sold and delivered in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement for the consideration expressed herein will be duly and validly authorized and issued, fully paid, and non-
assessable, and transferred in compliance with all applicable laws and will be free of any Security Interest, free of any restrictions on transfer,
participation rights other than restrictions under this Agreement, the Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements and any applicable security laws,
will have the rights, preferences and privileges set forth in this Agreement, the Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements and shall be subsequently
duly registered in the name of the Purchaser in the SPV’s Shareholder Register.

4.7. Subsidiaries. At the Closing the SPV shall own the share capital and equity or similar interest in the corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures,
associations, or other entities listed in Schedule 4.7, with such ownership percentage specified therein.
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4.8. Confidentiality and Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. Other than as specified in Schedule 4.8(a), each of the Company’s and
SPV’s officers, employees and consultants, having access to confidential information of the Company’s and SPV or who is engaged by Company and
SPV in the creation of Intellectual Property (as defined below), has executed or will have executed prior to the Closing, a Confidentiality and Proprietary
Information and Inventions Agreement in substantially the forms attached hereto as Schedule 4.8(b), and each such agreement shall remain in full force
and effect pursuant to its terms. To Sellers and SPV’s knowledge, none of Company’s current or former employees or consultants (in its capacity as such)
is in breach or violation of confidentiality undertakings towards Company and/or SPV. Other than as specified in Schedule 4.8(c), all consultants or
vendors of the Company and/or SPV with access to confidential information of the Company and/or SPV are party to a written agreement pertaining to
non-disclosure and non-use of confidential information of the Company and/or SPV. To the knowledge of the Sellers, Company and SPV, none of the
Company’s and/or SPV’s consultants or vendors are in violation of such agreements. To the Company’s, Sellers and SPV’s knowledge, no such officer or
employee or consultant (in its capacity as such) is in violation of any prior employee contract, proprietary information agreement or other agreement
relating to the right of any such individual to be employed by, or to contract with, the Company and/or SPV, and, to the Company’s and/or SPV’s
knowledge, the continued employment by the SPV’s employees, and the performance of the Purchased Contracts with its independent contractors, will
not result in any such violation. The SPV has not received any written notice alleging that any such violation has occurred.

4.9. Intellectual Property.

4.9.1. General. Immediately prior to the Closing, the Company has owned or had the right to use pursuant to written license, sublicense,
agreement, or permission, free and clear of any Security Interest, all Intellectual Property Rights, including party rights and royalties, all Patents,
trademarks, service marks, trade names, mask works, copyrights and all trade secrets and confidential business information (including research and
development information), including know-how, invention, designs, processes, computer programs, algorithms, firmware and technical data, concepts,
techniques, methods, systems, drawings, photographs, models, prototypes, research materials, formulas, development or experimental work, work in
progress, cost data, marketing plans, product plans, business and marketing strategies, financial information, forecasts, personnel information and
customer or supplier lists, and, as to all such items exclusively owned by the Company, all other proprietary rights relating to any of the foregoing
(including without limitation associated goodwill and remedies against infringements thereof and rights of protection of an interest therein under the laws
of all jurisdictions), all excluding any software made available on an off-the-shelf or shrink-wrap basis and all rights and technology embodied therein, as
currently used or as proposed to be used by the Company until the Closing Date and relating to the Purchased Assets, or as necessary or required for the
conduct of its Business as currently conducted. Each item of Intellectual Property owned, licensed or used by the Company immediately prior to the
Closing hereunder, constituting a Purchased Asset, will be owned, licensed or available for use by the SPV on substantially the same terms and conditions
immediately subsequent to the Closing hereunder. Except for readily and commercially available off-the-shelf software, no other Intellectual Property of
any kind shall be required by the SPV to conduct its Business or contemplated to be conducted until the Closing Date is owned by a third party or would
require a license and/or the payment of any fee or royalty.

4.9.2. Ownership of Intellectual Property. All of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights evidenced by or embodied in and/or attached,
connected or related to: (i) the Company’s and/or SPV’s technology, and (ii) any work product created by or for the Company and/or SPV prior and up to
the Closing Date, is owned solely and exclusively by the SPV prior to the Closing, other than Open Source Code which constitutes Third Party Software,
or any other Third Party Software made available on an off-the-shelf or shrink-wrap basis and all rights and technology embodied therein, as specified
under Schedule 4.9.2(i) of the Disclosure Schedule. The Company’s and/or SPV’s current and former employees, consultants, and other persons who,
either alone or in concert with others, developed, invented, discovered, derived, programmed or designed the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights,
have entered into written agreements with the Company, and subsequently the SPV assigning all rights in any and all Intellectual Property constituting as
Purchased Assets, as developed in the course of their employment by or provision of services to the Company. Schedule 4.9.2(ii) of the Disclosure
Schedule identifies in all material respects each: (a) Patent, trade mark, domain name or registration which has been issued to the Company with respect
to any of the Transferred Intellectual Property Right; (b) pending patent or trade mark application or application for registration which the Company
and/or SPV has made with respect to any of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights; (c) trade name or unregistered trademark used by the SPV
and/or was used by Company prior to the Closing; and (d) license, agreement, or other permission which the Company and/or SPV has received from or
granted to any third party with respect to any of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights (together with any exceptions), and (e) all Domain Names.
With respect to each item of Transferred Intellectual Property required to be identified as set forth in this Section 4.9.2, other than as limited with respect
to Open Source Code which is identified under the Disclosure Schedule, and unless set forth otherwise in the Disclosure Schedule: (i) immediately prior
to the Closing, the SPV possesses all right, title, and interest in and to the item, free and clear of any Security Interest, license, royalty, or commission; (ii)
the item is not subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, or charge by any competent court or Governmental Body applicable
to the Company; (iii) no action, suit, proceeding, hearing, or to the knowledge of the SPV, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand is pending
or to the knowledge of the Company and/or SPV is threatened which challenges the legality, validity, enforceability, use, or ownership of the item; (iv)
the Company, SPV or the Sellers have never agreed to indemnify any person for or against any interference, infringement, misappropriation, or other
conflict with respect to the item, other than as set forth in Schedule 4.9.2; and (v) the Company, SPV or the Sellers has not granted, and there are no
outstanding, options, licenses or agreements of any kind relating to the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, nor is the SPV a direct party to any
option, license or agreement of any kind with respect to any of the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights.
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4.9.3. No Infringement. (i) There are no infringement or misappropriation suits pending or filed or, to Company’s knowledge, threatened against
the Company and/or the Sellers and/or SPV, that relate to the Purchased Assets and SPV’s business and Company and/or Sellers are not presently aware
of or have a reason to believe that any such infringement or misappropriation exist. The Company has no reason to believe that it interfered with,
infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise come into conflict with any intellectual property rights of any third party with respect to the Transferred
Intellectual Property Rights; (ii) the Company has never received any charge, or written complaint, claim, demand, or notice alleging any such
interference, infringement, misappropriation, or violation (including any claim that the Company must license or refrain from using any intellectual
property rights of any third party with respect to the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights) and to the Company’s and Seller’s knowledge, there is no
basis for such claim; and (iii) to the knowledge of the Company, no third party has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated, or otherwise come
into conflict with any Transferred Intellectual Property.

4.9.4. Protection of IP Rights and Trade Secrets. The Company takes such reasonable actions to maintain and protect each item of Transferred
Intellectual Property Rights which actions are reasonable and customary in the industry in which the Company operates. All the confidential information
is being (and has been) continuously maintained in confidence by the Company and the Company has taken measures reasonable and customary to
protect and prevent its disclosure to unauthorized parties. The Company has complied, in all material respects with the requirements of, and has filed all
material documentation required in dealing with, all patent and trademark offices and any other patent registry agency in which its patent applications
were filed, as instructed by its professional patent counsel; and, to the best knowledge of the Company, all patents (if any) and patent applications are in
effect, and there is no prior art or any other claim which renders the inventions of the Company referred to in the patents, patent applications and related
documentation (if any) invalid in any manner.

4.10. Ownership; Software.

4.10.1. To the Company’s best knowledge, following the Closing, Purchaser will be permitted to exploit the Purchased Assets to the same extent
Company would have been able to had the transactions contemplated by this Agreement not occurred and without the payment of any additional amounts
or consideration, subject to Open Source Code terms and licenses disclosed under the Disclosure Schedule.

4.10.2. Company has not transferred ownership of, granted any exclusive license of or right to or authorized the retention of any exclusive rights
to or joint ownership of, any Purchased Assets.

4.10.3. The Purchased Assets are free and clear of any Liens, excluding any Third Party Software and any Third Party Software made available
on an off-the-shelf or shrink-wrap basis and all rights and technology embodied therein. The Purchased Assets constitute all of the Software and
Transferred Intellectual Property Rights owned by or held in the name of Seller or transferable by Seller, that relate to the Business.

4.10.4. The Purchased Assets and, to the Company’s knowledge, Transferred Third Party Software have not and do not infringe any third party’s
Intellectual Property Rights.

4.10.5. Company has not permitted its rights in the Transferred Intellectual Property Rights to lapse or enter the public domain. Neither
Company nor Sellers have no knowledge of any information, materials, facts or circumstances that would render any Transferred Intellectual Property
Rights invalid or unenforceable.

4.10.6. Schedule 4.10.6 of the Disclosure Schedule lists all registrations and registration applications pendent with respect to the Transferred
Intellectual Property Rights (collectively, “Transferred Registrations”). With respect to such Transferred Registrations, all necessary registration,
maintenance, and renewal fees for conducting the Business until Closing have been paid as listed in Schedule 4.10.6 of the Disclosure Schedule.
Company has no knowledge of any information, materials, facts or circumstances that would render any Transferred Registrations invalid or
unenforceable, or would cause a Material Adverse Effect to pending Transferred Registrations. There are no proceedings or actions known to Company
before any competent court or tribunal related to any such Transferred Registrations. There are no proceedings or actions (including without limitation,
open re-examination, investigation or other proceedings) known to Company before any Governmental Body applicable to the Company (including the
United States Patent and Trademark Office) or equivalent authority anywhere in the world). Company has not knowingly misrepresented, or knowingly
failed to disclose, any facts or circumstances in any application for any Transferred Registrations that would constitute fraud or a misrepresentation with
respect to such application or that would otherwise adversely affect the enforceability of any Transferred Registrations.
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4.10.7. Schedule 4.9.7 of the Disclosure Schedule provides a complete, accurate list of all Third Party Software and other technology of third
parties included in the Transferred Software.

4.10.8. Company has, and as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, SPV shall have, and Company is not aware of any
impediment that will prohibit or circumvent SPV’s right to use, on a perpetual, non-revocable, world-wide basis, pursuant to valid licenses, all software
development tools, library functions, compilers and all other Third Party Software that are or were used by Seller to create, modify, compile, operate or
support any Transferred Software or that are or were used in, incorporated into, integrated or bundled with, or used in the development of any Transferred
Software without any obligation to pay any royalties, accounting or other similar payments to any third party other than as set forth in the respective
assigned or novated Purchased Contracts provided by Seller to SPV or as limited by Open Source Code terms and licenses as disclosed under the
Disclosure Schedule.

4.10.9. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.9.9 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Open Source Code was used in the development or modification of
any Software that is Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software), or is incorporated into any Transferred Software (other than Third Party
Software), and no Software that is Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) is or was distributed with or was derived from, Open Source
Code.

4.10.10. Company is not aware that any Person has infringed or is infringing any Transferred Intellectual Property Rights.

4.10.11. Company has taken all reasonable steps that are required to protect Company’s rights in confidential information and Trade Secrets
within the Transferred Software. Seller, through its past and current employees, contractors, consultants and other service providers, is the sole developer
of the Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) and no other person has contributed to, created or modified the Transferred Software (other
than Third Party Software).

4.10.12. No funding, facilities or personnel of any Governmental Body, university, college, other educational institution or research center or
funding from third parties was used in the development of the Purchased Assets in whole or in part.

4.10.13. To the extent that any Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) or Transferred Intellectual Property Rights (or component
thereof) was originally owned or created by, for or with any third Person, including any predecessor of Company:

4.10.13.1. Company has, and SPV shall subsequently have, a valid or enforceable written agreement with such third party
or parties with respect thereto, pursuant to which Company has obtained complete, unencumbered, irrevocable and unrestricted ownership and is the
exclusive owner of, all such Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) or Transferred Intellectual Property Rights by valid assignment or
otherwise, which agreement has been filed in a timely manner with the appropriate Governmental Body (to the extent so required);

4.10.13.2. the transfers from Company and/or Sellers to Purchaser hereunder do not violate such third-party agreements;

4.10.13.3. such third parties have not retained and do not have any rights or licenses with respect to any Transferred
Software (other than Third Party Software) or Transferred Intellectual Property Rights, to the extent not assignable and/or transferable according to
applicable law; and

4.10.13.4. To Company’s knowledge, no basis exists for such third party to challenge or object to this Agreement or to the
transfers of any Transferred Software or Transferred Intellectual Property Rights contemplated hereunder.

4.10.14. Other than customary data storage services, no third party, including any escrow agent, possesses any copy of, or has a license to or
otherwise has access to, any source code to any Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) or any Software that embodies Transferred
Intellectual Property Rights, and Company shall have delivered to Purchaser all copies of, and neither Seller nor any of its affiliates shall have retained
any copy of, any source code to any Transferred Software or Software that embodies Transferred Intellectual Property Rights. Seller does not have any
duty or obligation (whether present, contingent or otherwise) to deliver, license or make available the Transferred Software source code to any escrow
agent or other Person. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time) will, or could
reasonably be expected to, result in the delivery, license or disclosure of the source code to any Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) to
any other Person.
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4.10.15. The Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) performs materially in accordance with its documentation. Other than
customary bugs and issues for software similar to the Transferred Software, Seller has disclosed in writing to Purchaser, a summary of any known
problem or issue with respect to any of the Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) which does, or may reasonably be expected to, have a
Material Adverse Effect on the functionality or fitness for the current purpose of use of Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software).

4.10.16. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.9.16 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software) source
code has been documented materially consistently with the relevant industry practice.

4.10.17. Company has delivered to Purchaser complete and accurate records with respect to all current fixes and material problem lists of the
Transferred Software (other than Third Party Software). There are no “Critical Problems” with the Transferred Software (other than Third Party
Software). For the purposes of the foregoing, “Critical Problem” means a problem, defect, malfunction, nonconformity or error which has been (or
should reasonably be) assigned the most critical level of error for Company’s internal tracking and reporting systems, in a manner consistent with past
practices and reasonable industry standards.

4.10.18. The Transferred Software (including, to Company’s knowledge, Third Party Software) is free of any disabling codes or instructions,
timer, copy protection device, clock, counter or other limiting design or routing and any “back door,” “time bomb,” “Trojan horse,” “worm,” “drop dead
device,” “virus,” “harmful code,” (as such terms are commonly understood in the software industry) or other software routines, code or hardware
components that in each case are designed to harm, or are capable of performing any of the following functions: (i) permitting unauthorized access, or the
unauthorized disablement or erasure of, or other unauthorized impediment to, such (or parts thereof) or data or other software of users, or otherwise
causing them to be incapable of being used in the full manner contemplated in the applicable documentation or (ii) damaging, or destroying any data or
files without the user’s consent.

2

4.11. Information Systems.

4.11.1. Schedule 4.10.1(i) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all the Software, equipment and information systems (“Information Systems”)
owned, licensed, leased or controlled by Company that are material to the operation of the Business as currently conducted and as currently proposed to
be conducted. If such Information Systems are operated or hosted by an outsourcer or other third-party provider, the identity of such third-party provider,
as known to the Company, is disclosed in the Disclosure Schedule. Such Information Systems are sufficient for the conduct of the Business as currently
conducted. The Company uses reasonable means, consistent with industry standard means available to the public, to protect the security and integrity of
all such Information Systems and the data stored thereon. Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.11.1(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule, the use by the
Company of any Software or Information Systems does not exceed the scope of the rights granted to the Company with respect thereto, including any
applicable limitation upon the usage, type or number of licenses, users, hardware, time, services or systems.

4.11.2. The Information Systems are deemed as Transferred Software.
4.12. Labor.

4.12.1. Schedule 4.12.1 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list as of the date hereof of all current employees of the
Company relating to the Purchased Assets showing for each (a) the employee’s name, job title or description, commencement date of employment, salary
level (including base salary, global payment, any bonus, commission, deferred compensation or other remuneration payable (other than any such
arrangements under which payments are at the discretion of the Company), full-time, part-time or hourly status, including each Person’s classification as
either exempt or non-exempt from the overtime requirements under applicable Law, social benefits participation, including whether a managers
insurance, pension fund, education fund (keren hishtalmut) is maintained with respect to such employee), their respective contribution rates and the salary
basis for such contributions, whether such Person, is subject to Section 14 Arrangement under the Israeli Severance Pay Law - 1963 (“Section 14
Arrangement”) (and, to the extent such employee is subject to the Section 14 Arrangement, an indication of whether such arrangement has been applied
to such person from the commencement date of their employment and on the basis of their entire salary), accrued and unused vacation days and prior
notice of termination requirements, and (b) any wages, salary, bonus, commission or other compensation due and owing to each employee during or for
the calendar year ending December 31, 2020. All such employment agreements shall be deemed as Purchased Contracts.
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4.12.2. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.12.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company is not a party to or bound by any employment contract,
deferred compensation arrangement, bonus plan, incentive plan, profit sharing plan, retirement agreement or other employee compensation plan or
agreement. No employee of the Company has been granted the right to continued employment with the Company or to any compensation following
termination of employment with the Company, subject to the applicable prior notice of termination. No employees of the Company are represented by
any labor union, or subject to any collective bargaining agreement or extension order, except for certain provisions from collective bargaining agreements
incorporated into Israeli Labor Law by an extension order (712117 %) that generally apply to all employees in Israel nor, to the Company’s knowledge, are
there any union organization activities pending or threatened by the Company’s employees. There is no pending or, to the Company’s best knowledge,
threatened labor dispute involving the Company and any of its employees.

4.12.3. The Company has complied in all material respects with all Israeli labor and social securities Laws, procedures and agreements, relating
to employment, terms and conditions of employment and all individual or collective labor agreements and internal regulations, including without
limitation, those relating to wages, hours, vacations and working conditions for its employees, equal opportunity, employment discrimination, disability,
civil rights, fair labor standards, occupational safety and health, workers’ compensation, immigration, and provisions under the Prior Notice to the
Employee Law, 2002, the Notice to Employee (Terms of Employment) Law, 2002, the Prevention of Sexual Harassment Law, 1998, the Hours of Work
and Rest Law, 1951, the Annual Leave Law, 1951, the Employment by Human Resource Contractors Law, 1996, the Advance Notice for Dismissal and
Resignation Law, 2001, the Salary Protection Law, 1958, the Law of Increased Enforcement of Labor Laws, 2011, and wrongful discharge, and to the
proper withholding and remission to the proper tax and other authorities of all sums required to be withheld from employees under applicable Laws
respecting such withholding. All compensation, social benefit payments and withholding obligations of the Company to or in respect of its current and
former employees for periods prior to the Closing have been timely and fully withheld and paid by the Company or are properly provided for in the
Financial Statements.

4.12.4. The Company is not aware that any of the Company’s current employees, consultants or material service providers intends to terminate
his/her/its employment or consultancy with the Company, nor does the Company have a present intention to terminate the employment or engagement of
any of the foregoing.

4.12.5. Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.12.5 of the Disclosure Schedule, Company has no employment Contract with any officer or
employee or any other consultant or person, which is not terminable by it at will without liability, upon thirty (30) days prior notice.

4.12.6. The Company does not engage any personnel through manpower agencies. The Company does not employ or engage through a third
party with employees whom the Israeli Law for Employment of Foreign Employees, 1991 applies to.

4.12.7. No Purchased Contract which is an employment or consulting contract contains any provisions triggering any payments which may
reasonably be triggered pursuant to the transactions contemplated hereunder.

4.13. Contractors. Schedule 4.13 of the Disclosure Schedule lists the particulars (the name, title and function, date of commencement of services and
material terms of agreement and benefits, including termination notice, current remunerations and department) of all freelancers with which the Company
has entered into an agreement or engaged the services of, which are currently in effect, relating to the Purchased Assets and/or Business. Except as set
forth on Schedule 4.13, all of such independent contractors are a party to a written contract with the Company. True and accurate listing of all benefits
and terms payable or which the Company is bound to provide (whether now or in the future) to each independent contractor or in respect of each
independent contractor are described in a true, accurate and complete manner in Schedule 4.13. Each Person who has provided services to the Company
and was classified and treated as an independent contractor, consultant, leased employee, volunteer, or other non-employee service provider was to the
Company’s best knowledge properly classified and treated as such for all applicable purposes under applicable law and would not reasonably be expected
to be reclassified by any Israeli Governmental Body as an employee of the Company, for any propose whatsoever and the Company has not engaged any
consultants, sub-contractors, sales agents or freelancers who, according to any applicable Israeli law, would be entitled to the rights of an employee vis-a-
vis the Company. Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.13 of the Disclosure Schedule, each contract with such Person contains provisions which state that
no employer-employee relations exist between such consultant or contractor and the Company. No Company contractor and consultant or former
Company contractor and consultant has issued to the Company a written notice of a claim or any other allegation that such contractor and/or consultant
was not rightly classified as an independent contractor.
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4.14. Litigation. There has not been any and there is no action, suit, written claim, proceeding or to Company’s knowledge investigation of any nature
pending or threatened against Seller relating to any Purchased Assets. No Purchased Assets (including, to Company’s knowledge, Third Party Software)
are subject to any proceeding or outstanding decree, writ, court order, judgment, or injunction, or settlement agreement entered into by the Company that
restricts in any manner the use, transfer or licensing thereof by Seller or may affect the validity, use or enforceability of such Purchased Assets by
Purchaser. There are no judgments, court orders or decrees, fines or penalties heretofore assessed against Seller, affecting the Purchased Assets under any
federal, state or local law.

4.15. Compliance with Laws and Other Instruments. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.15 of the Disclosure Schedule, to Company’s knowledge, the
Company has conducted its business in all material respects in accordance with all applicable laws and there is no violation or default with respect to any
law, statute, ordinance, regulation, order, writ, injunction, decree or judgment of any court or Governmental Body, which could have a Material Adverse
Effect upon the Purchased Assets and/or Business. To the Company’s knowledge, there is no existing law, rule, regulation or order which would prohibit
or restrict the Company from, or otherwise cause a Material Adverse Effect on the Company in, conducting the Business in any jurisdiction in which it is
now conducted or as currently proposed to be conducted.

4.16. Compliance with Privacy Laws.

4.16.1. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.16.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company and the operation of the Company, including the use,
collection, storage and dissemination of data in connection therewith and the registration of databases in connection with the Business, are in compliance
in all material respects, with any applicable privacy laws binding directives, or requirements of any relevant Governmental Body to protect the privacy of
any Personal Information (the “Data Privacy Laws”), including the Protection of Privacy Law, 1981 (the “Israeli Privacy Protection Law”).

4.16.2. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.16.2 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has and is currently taking the measures required by any
and all Data Privacy Laws in connection with Company’s collection, storage, use, transfer of, (a) any User Data and/or any other personally identifiable
information from any individuals, including name, address, telephone number, email address, financial account number, government-issued identifier,
and any other data used or intended to be used to identify, contact or precisely locate a person, (b) any information from or about an individual whose
use, aggregation, holding or management is restricted under any applicable Law, (c) internet protocol address or other persistent identifier; (d)
“information” as defined by the Israeli Privacy Protection Law (whether or not such “information” constitutes “sensitive information” as defined
thereunder) (collectively “Personal Information”) to maintain in confidence such Personal Information. Except as set forth in Schedule 4.16.2 of the
Disclosure Schedule, the Company has at all times complied with the Data Privacy Laws, and is in compliance with any contractual obligations
including, without limitation, Company’s privacy policies and the requirements of any codes of conduct to which the Company is a party, relating to
privacy, data protection, and the collection, storage and use of the Personal Information. The Company has commercially reasonable physical, technical,
organizational and administrative security measures and policies in place to protect all Personal Information collected, stored and used by it or on its
behalf from and against unauthorized access, use and/or disclosure. No claims have been asserted or, to the best knowledge of the Company, are
threatened against the Company by any Person alleging a violation of any Person’s or any entity’s privacy, personal or confidentiality rights under the
Data Privacy Laws and/or contractual obligations relating to privacy. To the best knowledge of the Company, there has been no unauthorized access to or
other misuse of Personal Information. The Company has never reported a data breach to any relevant regulator in any jurisdiction.

4.16.3. The transactions contemplated hereunder do not breach any Data Privacy Laws nor infringe any Person’s rights with respect to his
Personal Data, nor require any consents from any data subjects.

4.17. Permits. Other than as specified in Schedule 4.17, to the Company’s knowledge, the Company has all franchises, permits, licenses, and any similar

authority necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted, and to the extent pertaining to the Business, constitute as Purchased Assets.
The Company is not in material default under any of such franchises, permits, licenses, or other similar authority.
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4.18. Agreements. Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.18, there are no agreements, understandings, instruments, contracts, transaction proposed as of
the date hereof, judgments, orders, writs or decrees to which the Company or the Subsidiaries or SPV is a direct party or by which it is bound by, relating
to the Purchased Assets, other than generally publicly available agreements relating to Open Source Code. All the agreements to which the Company is a
direct party relating to the Purchased Assets, are listed in Schedule 4.18, and true and correct copies of such agreements have been provided to the
Purchaser. Other than the agreements identified as in Schedule 4.18, the Company does not, and the SPV shall not require, any additional agreements to
carry out the Business as currently conducted. The Company is not in violation in any material respect of any provision of any Purchased Contract. All
such Purchased Contracts are in full force and effect, and the Company and has no knowledge of the invalidity of or grounds for rescission of any of these
agreements, or of any intention to terminate any such agreements, excluding by virtue of the transactions contemplated hereunder (except with respect to
the Material Purchased Contracts).

4.19. Title to Property and Assets. The Company has good and marketable title to all of its property and assets constituting the Purchased Assets, free and
clear of any Security Interest. Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.19(a), with respect to the property and assets it leases, each lease or agreement to
which the Company is a party under which it is a lessee of any property, real or personal, is a valid and subsisting agreement, duly authorized by
Company’s authorizes signatories, and entered into, without any default of the Company thereunder and, to the Company’s knowledge, without any
default thereunder of any other party thereto. No event has occurred and is continuing which, with due notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a
default or event of default by the Company under any such lease or agreement or, to the Company’s knowledge, by any other party thereto. The
Company’s possession of such property has not been disturbed and no claim has been asserted against the Company adverse to its rights in such leasehold
interests. No tangible assets owned by the Company are provided by the Company to be used by any other person and except as specified in Schedule
4.19(b), the Company does not depend upon or require for the Business any tangible assets, facilities or services owned or supplied by any related party;
all of which shall be considered as Purchased Assets.

4.20. Changes. Other than as set forth in Section 4.20 to the Discloser Schedule, since December 31, 2020, the operations and business of the Company
has been conducted in all respects only in the ordinary course of business, the Company has not entered into any transaction which was not in the
ordinary course of its business and there has not been: (i) any material change in, or any event or condition that would cause a Material Adverse Effect to,
the Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities; (ii) any damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, to any of the material assets,
properties, financial condition, operating results, or business of the Company (as such business is presently conducted); (iii) any waiver or compromise by
the Company of a valuable right or of a material debt owed to it; (iv) any satisfaction or discharge of any Security Interest by the Company, in each case
except in the ordinary course of business; (v) any change or amendment to a material contract or arrangement by which the Company or any of its assets
or properties are bound or subject; (vi) any material change in any compensation arrangement or agreement with any key employee, officer, director or
shareholder of the Company; (vii) any sale, assignment or transfer of any patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets or other intangible assets of the
Company; (viii) any resignation or termination of employment of any officer or key employee of the Company; (ix) any receipt of a notice that there has
been a loss of, or material order cancellation by, any material customer of the Company; (x) any mortgage, pledge, transfer of a Security Interest in, or
lien, created by the Company, with respect to any of its material properties or assets, except liens for taxes not yet due or payable or in the ordinary
course of business; (xi) any loans or guarantees made by the Company to or for the benefit of any of its employees, officers or directors, or any members
of their immediate families, other than travel advances and other advances made in the ordinary course of its business; (xii) any change in the accounting
methods or accounting principles or practices employed by the Company; (xiii) any declaration, setting aside or payment or other distribution in respect
of any of the Company’s share capital, or any direct or indirect redemption, purchase or other acquisition of any of such share capital; and (xiv) any
arrangement or commitment by the Company to do any of the things described in this Section
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4.21. Tax Matters. The Company has timely filed all tax returns and tax reports (including information returns and reports) to the extent required by
applicable law and all such tax returns and reports have been true, correct and complete in all material respects and have been made and filed in
compliance with applicable law. Any and all taxes and other charges due from the Company by any federal, state, local or foreign tax authorities
(including, without limitation, those due in respect of the properties, income, franchises, licenses, sales or payrolls) have been timely paid or property
reserved in the Company’s books of account. The Company has not made any elections pursuant to the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version],
1961 (other than elections that relate solely to method of accounting, depreciation or amortization). Other than as set forth in Schedule 4.21(i) of the
Disclosure Schedule, the Company has withheld and paid all taxes and other charges required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts
paid or owing to any employee, creditor, independent contractor, shareholder, member or other third party and have paid the same to the proper tax-
receiving officers or authorized depositories. The Company never had any tax deficiency proposed or assessed against it and has not executed any waiver
of any statute of limitations on the assessment or collection of any tax or governmental charge. The Company has not incurred any taxes, assessments or
governmental charges other than in the ordinary course of business and the Company has made adequate provisions on its books of account for all taxes,
assessments and governmental charges with respect to its business, properties and operations for such period. Company’s accounts and notes receivable
are properly booked. Furthermore, to the knowledge of the Company, other than as set forth in Schedule 4.21(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule, no state of
facts exists or has existed which would constitute grounds for the assessment of any tax liability with respect to the periods which have not been audited.
The Company is duly registered for purposes of Israeli value added tax and have complied in all material respects with all requirements concerning value
added taxes

4.22. Tax Ruling. All facts, information, data contained in the Tax Ruling are, full, true and correct, and do not omit nor misstate any facts and/or
applicable information, nor provide for any false and/or misleading information. All actions, covenants, undertakings and obligations by Company, the
SPV and/or Sellers due prior to the Closing shall have been fully and timely performed in accordance with the terms thereof.

4.23. Banking Relationships, Loans and Investments. Schedule 4.23 sets forth an accurate, correct and complete list of all banks, financial institutions
and any third parties in which any of the SPV and/or Subsidiaries has an account, deposit, safe-deposit box, lock box, strip accounts, or line of credit or
other loan facility and the amounts owed to such banks, financial institutions or such third parties, if any.

4.24. No Powers of Attorney. There are no outstanding powers of attorney executed on behalf of the SPV.

4.25. Brokers. No agent, broker, investment banker, person or firm acting in a similar capacity on behalf of or under the authority of the Company is or
will be entitled to any brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or any similar fee in connection with this Agreement.

4.26. Capacity of Sellers.

4.26.1. Neither (1) the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by the Seller, nor (2) the consummation by the Sellers of the
Transactions to which each Seller is a party, will (with or without notice or lapse of time):

4.26.1.1. contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach by such Seller of any provisions of any applicable Law to which
such Seller is subject to, or give any Governmental Authority or other Person the right to challenge the transactions contemplated herein and thereby or to
exercise any remedy or obtain any relief under any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which such Seller is bound in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby; or

4.26.2. No consent is required from, any Person (including any Governmental Authority) in connection with (x) the execution, delivery or
performance by such Seller of the Agreement and/or the Ancillary Agreements to which such Seller is a party or (y) the consummation by such Seller of
the transactions contemplated herein and thereby, other than where the failure to make filings, give notice or obtain consents will not impair the ability of
such Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated herein and thereby.

4.26.3. Each Seller has the capacity to comply with and perform all of such Seller’s covenants and obligations under each of the Agreements and
Ancillary Agreements to which such Seller is a party.

4.26.4. Each Seller has not (A) made a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (B)is not bankrupt or insolvent, (C) suffered the
attachment or other judicial seizure of all or a substantially all of such Seller’s assets, (D) admitted in writing such Seller’s inability to pay such Seller’s
debts as they become due, or (E) taken or been the subject of any action that will have an adverse effect on such Seller’s ability to comply with or
perform any of such Seller’s covenants or obligations under any of the Agreement and/or the Ancillary Agreements;

4.26.5. To the Seller’s knowledge, it is not subject to any applicable law that may have an adverse effect on each Seller’s ability to comply with
or perform any of each Seller’s covenants or obligations under this Agreement; or

4.27. There is no proceeding pending, and, to the Seller’s knowledge, no Person has threatened to commence any proceeding against either Seller (in

his/her/its capacity as such) that may have an adverse effect on the ability of either Seller to comply with or perform any of either Seller’s covenants or
obligations under any of the Agreement and/or the Ancillary Agreement.
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4.28. Transaction of Business. Company did not provide any discounts with respect under any Purchased Contract, the foregoing other than in the
ordinary course of business.

4.29. Disclosure of Information. There is no material fact or information relating to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), affairs, operations,
properties or assets of the SPV as currently conducted that has not been disclosed to the Purchaser by the SPV or the Sellers. The representations and
warranties in Section 4 of this Agreement are each accurate, correct and complete in all material respects as of the Closing (except that representations
that are specifically qualified as to materiality will be true and correct as so qualified), and neither this Agreement (including any exhibit to this
Agreement) nor any documents, certificates or other items supplied by the Company and the Sellers with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby
contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact (except that representations that are specifically qualified as to materiality
will be true and correct as so qualified) necessary to make the statements herein or therein not misleading. The Purchaser has the right to rely fully upon
the representations and warranties of the Sellers contained in this Agreement (including, inter alia, any exhibit hereto) or in any written certificate made
or delivered pursuant to the requirements of the provisions herewith.

4.30. Transfer Restrictions; Acknowledgement of Risk.

4.30.1. Each Seller acknowledges that it has such knowledge and experience in financial or business matters that it is capable of evaluating and
understanding the merits and risks of the Closing Equity Consideration and/or any Consideration Shares issuable hereunder. Each Seller understands that
there is no assurance of any economic benefit which may arise in favor of Seller, and each Seller further acknowledges that it may incur material financial
losses in entering into the transactions contemplated hereunder. Such Seller is able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Consideration Shares
and, at the present time, is able to afford a complete loss of such investment. Such Seller acknowledges that as of the date hereof, the Purchaser has
limited financial resources, and thus an investment in the Consideration Shares is subject to significant risk.

4.30.2. Each Seller is either (i) an accredited investor as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated under the Act, or (ii) a Non U.S.
Person as defined under Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act. To the extent that a Seller is a non U.S. Person, such Seller (x) is not
receiving the Consideration Shares for the account or benefit of any U.S. Person, (y) is not, at the time of execution of this Agreement, and will not be, at
the time of the issuance of the Purchaser’s ADS, in the United States and (z) is not a “distributor” (as defined in Regulation S promulgated under the
Act).

4.30.3. Such Seller acknowledges that it has had the opportunity to review the ancillary agreements relating to this Agreement (including all
exhibits and schedules thereto) and has been afforded (i) the opportunity to ask such questions as it has deemed necessary of, and to receive answers
from, representatives of the Purchaser any concerning the terms and conditions of the offering of the Consideration Shares and the merits and risks of
investing in the Consideration Shares; (ii) access to information about the Purchaser and its financial condition, results of operations, business, properties,
management and prospects sufficient to enable it to evaluate its investment; and (iii) the opportunity to obtain such additional information that the
Purchaser possesses or can acquire without unreasonable effort or expense that is necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to the
investment.

4.30.4. In case Seller shall at any time be entitled to exchange the Consideration Shares with Purchaser ADS, each Seller understands and
acknowledges that any part hereof may only be disposed of in compliance with state and federal securities laws. In connection with any transfer of
Purchaser’s ADS, other than pursuant to an effective registration statement or Rule 144 under the Securities Act (“Rule 144”), to an affiliate (as such
term is defined in Rule 144) of Such Seller or in connection with a pledge, the Purchaser may require the transferor thereof to provide to the Purchaser an
opinion of counsel to such Seller, to the effect that such transfer does not require registration of such transferred Purchaser’s ADS under the Securities
Act.

4.30.5. Each Seller agrees to the imprinting, so long as is required, of a legend on any of the Purchaser’s ADS exchanged (if exchanged) for the
Consideration Shares in the following form:

“THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF UNLESS REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND UNDER APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES
LAWS OR THE COMPANY SHALL HAVE RECEIVED AN OPINION OF COUNSEL THAT REGISTRATION OF SUCH
SECURITIES UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS
IS NOT REQUIRED.”
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4.30.6. Each certificate representing the Purchaser’s ADS, if such ADS’s shall be offered in reliance upon Regulation S, shall be stamped or
otherwise imprinted with a legend substantially in the following form (in addition to any legend required by applicable state securities or “blue sky”
laws):

“THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND NEITHER SUCH SECURITIES NOR ANY INTEREST
THEREIN MAY BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED, ASSIGNED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (1) IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF REGULATION S PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, AND
BASED ON AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, WHICH COUNSEL AND OPINION ARE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE
COMPANY, THAT THE PROVISIONS OF REGULATION S HAVE BEEN SATISFIED, (2) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR (3)
PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, IN WHICH CASE THE HOLDER MUST, PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER,
FURNISH TO THE COMPANY AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, WHICH COUNSEL AND OPINION ARE REASONABLY
SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY, THAT SUCH SECURITIES MAY BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED, ASSIGNED OR
OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE MANNER CONTEMPLATED PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM
THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS.
HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT BE
CONDUCTED UNLESS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT.”

4.30.7. Sellers understand and acknowledge that any misrepresentation of the foregoing shall result in Purchaser not being able to receive
Purchaser’s ADS.

4.30.8. Israeli Securities Laws. Sellers are aware of the rules and regulations promulgated under the Israeli Securities Law and the regulations
thereto, including those under Section 15a -15c thereof, and acknowledge and understand the limitations thereunder.
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5. REPRESENTATIONS& WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER

The Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to the Company and the Sellers that the statements contained in this Section 5 are true and correct as of the
date of this Agreement and will be true and correct as of the Closing Date, as though the Closing Date was substituted for the date set forth in the
representations and warranties set forth in this Section 5.

5.1. Organization. The Purchaser is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation.

5.2. Authorization; Approvals. The Purchaser has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and the Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements constitute a valid and legally binding obligation,
enforceable in accordance with its terms except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other laws of general
application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, (ii) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive
relief, or other equitable remedies. All corporate action on the part of the Purchaser necessary for the authorization, execution, delivery, and performance
of all of its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements have been (or will be) duly taken prior to the Closing.

5.3. No Conflict. The investment in the Company by the Purchaser and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all Ancillary
Agreements and other instruments and documents relating thereto do not conflict with or violate any other agreement, instrument, document, court order
or judgment to which the Purchaser is bound or subject and do not require the consent or approval of any other person or government agency.

5.4. Validity. This Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements and the documents to be delivered to the Company and the Sellers at the Closing were duly
executed by the Purchaser and at the Closing (assuming the due authorization, execution, and delivery by the Company and the Sellers) shall constitute
valid and legally binding obligations of the Purchaser, enforceable in accordance with their terms, except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) as limited by
laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief, or other equitable remedies.

5.5. Governmental Consents or Third-Party Consents. The Purchaser does not need to give any notice to, make any filing with, or obtain any
authorization, consent, or approval from any Governmental Body, or any third party with whom Purchaser entered into an agreement currently in effect,
in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, including the transfer of the Purchased Shares.

5.6. Litigation. Except as disclosed in the SEC Reports, there has not been any and there is no action, suit, written claim, proceeding or to Purchaser’s
knowledge investigation of any nature pending or threatened against the Purchaser. Except as disclosed in the SEC Reports, neither the Purchaser nor any
of its material assets are subject to any proceeding or outstanding decree, writ, court order, judgment, or injunction, or settlement agreement entered into
by the Purchaser that could affect the Purchaser’s ability to perform the Purchaser’s obligations hereunder.

5.7. Investment Representations of Purchaser. The Purchaser and its legal counsel had an opportunity to ask questions and receive answers from the
Company and the Sellers, to conduct due diligence investigations sufficient to their needs and requirements, and to review and inspect all of the data and
information provided to them by the Company and the Sellers, regarding the terms and conditions hereof, the Business, Purchased Assets and the
business, properties, and financial condition of the Company, and with respect to the transactions contemplated under this Agreement and Ancillary
Agreements, and has received such material provided by the Company and the Sellers and reviewed (and has consulted with professional consultants) and
understands the risks and other considerations relating to the purchase of the Purchased Assets, and acknowledges that such purchase is highly
speculative.
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5.8. Listing on the Trading Market and Compliance with Securities Laws. To the knowledge of Purchaser, the Purchaser has timely filed all SEC Reports.
To Purchaser’s knowledge, as of the respective dates they were filed (except if amended, updated or superseded by a filing made by the Purchaser with
the SEC prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing), the SEC Reports complied in all material respects with the requirements of
the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. To Purchaser’s knowledge, the Purchaser’s Ordinary Shares are validly traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
(“TASE”) and the Purchaser’s ADS’s are validly traded on the Trading Market. To Purchaser’s knowledge, the Purchaser is compliance, in all material
respects, with all the requirements of the listing, disclosure and other requirements of the Trading Market and the TASE and has not received any formal
or informal notice or notification of non-compliance or potential delisting of the Purchaser’s ADS’s or other securities.

6. PRE-CLOSING AGREEMENTS

The Parties agree as follows with respect to the period from the execution of this Agreement and until the Closing:

6.1. General. Each of the Parties will use reasonable efforts, will take reasonable actions and do all reasonable things necessary, proper, or advisable in
order to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

6.2. Operation of Business. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and subject to applicable law, the Company (solely with respect to the
Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities), SPV and the Sellers will conduct their business in relation to the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities
solely in the ordinary course of business and shall not engage in any practice, take any action, or enter into any transaction outside the ordinary course of
business.

7. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

7.1. Transfer of Accounts. The Company shall deliver to the Purchaser such evidence reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser that all Domain Names have
been assigned to the SPV and under the name of the SPV.

7.2. Post-Closing Financing. Purchaser shall extend and make available to SPV, an aggregate amount of US$2,500,000 in immediate available funds, by
wire transfer to the SPV bank account, to be disbursed to SPV in four (4) installments, as follows: (i) the initial installment in the amount of US $[**]
shall be transferred within one (1) Business Day of Closing, (ii) the second installment in the amount of US $[**] shall be transferred until March 1,
2022, (iii) the third installment in the amount of US $[**] shall be transferred until August 1, 2022, and (iv) the fourth installment in the amount of US
$[**] shall be transferred until January 1, 2023 (“Purchaser Financing”).

7.3. Transfer of none Material Contracts. Company shall make commercially reasonable efforts to assign or novate Purchased Contracts which are not
Material Purchased Contracts at the Closing and in any event as soon as possible following the Effective Date. In case such Contract(s) cannot be
transferred, novated, assigned or conveyed to Purchaser’s satisfaction, then per Purchaser’s instruction, Company shall forthwith terminate such
Contracts in a lawful manner. Notwithstanding the above or anything to the contrary herein, the failure to assign such Purchased Contracts shall not be
deemed a breach by the Company.

7.4. Waiver of Tax Ruling Consequences. Sellers hereby forever and irrevocably discharge, release and waive (including any right to contest the
following) the Purchaser, its officers, directors, employees and/or agents, and any shareholder of Purchaser (the “Released Parties”), from any losses,
damages, claims, expenses and/or any other demand from the Released Parties’ associated or in connection with the Sellers adherence, or lack thereof,
with any requirement, demand, representations and/or covenants required to grant effect, and keep the Tax Ruling effective, which may arise to Sellers,
their assigns and/or anyone on their behalf, except for breach of Section 2.2.1.4.
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7.5. Specific Payment Allocation and Offset. It is clarified that Company shall be entitled to all payments due from [**] which are in connection with
services or products sold prior to the Closing (and are expected to be received with the Subsidiaries on or about July/August 2021). Sellers shall be
responsible to all fees and costs associated with the Escrow Agreement and the Paying Agent Agreement (“Seller Balancing Liabilities”). Company
shall be responsible for (a) such amounts reflecting the transferred employees accumulated vacation days, and (b) costs of the valuation performed by
[**] for the benefit of the Company (“Company Balancing Liabilities”). Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of the rent and the security
deposit to [**] for July 2021 (“Purchaser Balancing Liabilities”). Purchaser shall pay, on behalf of Company and Sellers, the Seller Balancing
Liabilities and the Company Balancing Liabilities (when due). Company shall pay, on behalf of Purchaser, the Purchaser Balancing Liabilities. Following
the Closing and the receipt payments from [**], but in no event no later than 31 August 2021, the parties shall make the applicable calculation and
netting-off of their respective payment obligation, and shall perform balancing payments (via netting off) to reflect the above. Such balancing payments
shall be made directly between Purchaser and Company or Sellers, and not through any adjustment to the Closing Consideration. To the extent any
payment from [**] will be received following 31 August 2021, such payment shall be transferred and paid to the Company (subject to said offsets).

7.6. Earn Out Support. The Purchaser shall make good faith efforts to support the SPV in order for the Sellers to be able to achieve the Milestones (taking
into account the budget agreed by the Parties and the terms of the Post-Closing Financing).

7.7. Compliance with Tax Ruling. All actions, covenants, undertakings and obligations by Purchaser, Company, and/or Sellers due on or following the
Closing in accordance with the Tax Ruling shall be fully and timely performed in accordance with the terms thereof.

7.8. Non-Compete. Commencing on the Closing Date and continuing for the later of: (i) a period four (4) years following the Closing Date, and (ii) one
(1) year of termination engagement, neither Seller shall engage, directly or indirectly, in developing or marketing or selling for itself or any other party
product functionality that competes with the Business, including any of the features or functions of the Transferred Software. For purposes of
clarification, pursuant to this Agreement, each Seller and the Company (directly or indirectly) shall discontinue all sales of products containing the
Transferred Software or otherwise offer services competing with the Business. The Parties agree that such covenants are reasonable and necessary to
protect Purchaser’s interests in the Purchased Assets, that the Closing Consideration was calculated to reflect arm’s length payment for such special
obligation, and the Sellers confirm that they have carefully reviewed the provisions of this Section 7.6., fully understand the consequences thereof and
have assessed the respective advantages and disadvantages to the Sellers of entering into these covenants.

7.9. Evidence of Filing. The Sellers shall deliver to the Purchaser the form of notice to the Registrar for filing the Amended Articles. In addition, the
Company shall deliver to the Purchaser the form of notice to be sent to the Registrar with respect to the transfer of the Purchase Shares under this
Agreement, and with respect to the appointment of the New Directors in the SPV.

7.10. Securities Law Matters. In the event that, within thirty six (36) months of the Closing, Purchaser files a resale registration statement under the
Securities Act before the Consideration Shares become eligible for exchange for the Purchaser’s ADS which are not subject to any restrictions under Rule
144, the Purchaser shall as soon as practicably possible, inform the Founders in writing and, if one or more Founders so requests in writing within ten
(10) business days of receiving such notice, the Purchaser shall include in such registration statement the resale by such Founder(s) of ADS’s
representing such Consideration Shares which have been released to the respective Founder, pursuant to the terms of the Paying Agent Agreement and/or
the Escrow Agent Agreement. In the event that at the conclusion of six months following their issuance, any Consideration Shares issued hereunder do
not qualify for an exemption from registration enabling them to become freely tradable without time or volume restrictions pursuant to Rule 144, due to
(i) a determination that a Founder is deemed as “affiliates” under Rule 405 of the Securities Act (and despite such Founders providing all requisite
representations that he is not an “affiliate”, or (ii) such circumstances resulting from Purchaser’s failure to meet the requirements which apply to
Purchaser in order for the Consideration Shares to qualify for such exemption without such failure resulting from any act of omission of the respective
Founder, upon request of such Founder, Purchaser shall use its best efforts to file a resale registration under the Securities Act to register the resale of
ADS’s representing such Consideration Shares within sixty (60) days from such notice and shall use its commercially best efforts to keep such
registration statement, with respect to each Founder, continuously effective under the Securities Act until the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which such
Founder may sell, in compliance with Rule 144, the ADS underlying the Consideration Shares then held, or (ii) all ADS underlying the Consideration
Shares covered by the registration statement have been sold by such Founder. In the event that the Purchaser fails to comply with any such registration
requirements or fails to remove the restrictive legend from any securities issued hereunder pursuant to a valid request made in accordance with this
paragraph, within 10 calendar days, with no fault of the respective Founder, then for each subsequent day, the Purchaser shall pay the holder entitled to
such rights an amount equal to (i) the number of the Purchaser’s ADS’s with respect to which the Purchaser did not timely comply with its obligations
times (ii) 0.3% of the closing price of the closing price of the ADS’s on the Closing Date.
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7.11. Guarantees. The Founders executed guarantees towards bank [**] in favor of the SPV. The SPV and the Purchaser shall, promptly following the
Closing, remove such guarantees.

8. PAYMENT MECHANICS AND WITHHOLDING

Anything to the contrary notwithstanding:

8.1. At the Closing, Purchaser shall deposit or cause the deposit by the Paying Agent, of:
8.1.1. An amount equal to the Closing Cash Consideration less the aggregate cash portion of the Escrow Fund;
8.1.2. The Closing Equity Consideration less the equity portion of the Escrow Fund,
8.1.3. The Escrow Fund (cash and equity).

8.2. The Paying Agent shall deposit (i) the amount equal to the Escrow Fund with the Escrow Agent, to be, if applicable, subsequently released back to
the Paying Agent for disbursement to the Sellers, and (ii) the respective Closing Cash Consideration due to the respective Sellers which are Optionholders
in connection with the sale of the 102 Securities with the 102 Trustee.

8.3. The Closing Cash Consideration less the cash portion of the Escrow Fund (and any subsequent cash payments) shall be released by the Paying Agent,
only upon receipt of a duly executed certificates as required under the Paying Agent Agreement attached hereto as Schedule 8.3.

8.4. The Closing Equity Consideration (less the equity portion of the Escrow Fund) shall be released by the Paying Agent, according to the Paying Agent
Agreement.

8.5. Right to Withhold. Each of Purchaser, the Paying Agent, 102 Trustee, the Escrow Agent and the SPV, including its Subsidiaries (each a “Payer”)
shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration, in cash or equity, payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement, such
amounts as Purchaser, or applicable Payer, as the case may be, under the Israeli Income Tax Regulations (withholding from payments for services or
assets) 5737-1977 (the “ITR”), with respect to the making of such payment unless the Sellers have provided the Payer with a Valid Tax Certificate from
the ITA at least three (3) days prior to the proposed date of such payment. To the extent that such amounts are so withheld by Purchaser or applicable
Payer, as the case may be, and timely and properly remitted to the applicable Governmental Body in accordance with the ITR and no due to a fault by act
or omission of the applicable Payer (i) such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person to
whom or to which such amounts would otherwise have been paid, and (ii) Purchaser, the Escrow Agent or the SPV, as applicable, shall promptly provide
to the Person from which such amounts were withheld written confirmation of the amount so withheld.
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8.6. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, a Payer shall not deduct or withhold any amount from the Escrow Fund, which amount or any portion
thereof, if and when released, shall be released to the Paying Agent, for further disbursement to the Sellers and any taxes, if any, shall be withheld by the
Paying Agent upon actual payment to the Sellers.

8.7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Paying Agent shall provide Purchaser prior to the Closing Date with an undertaking as required under Section
6.2.4.3(c) of the Income Tax Circular 19/2018 (Transaction for Sale of Rights in a Corporation), with respect to Israeli Tax, any consideration payable or
otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid to and retained by the Paying Agent for the benefit of each Seller for a period of 180 days
from Closing or an earlier date required in writing by such Seller or by the ITA (the “Withholding Drop Date”) (during which time the Paying Agent
shall not withhold any Israeli tax on such consideration, except if otherwise required by applicable law or pursuant to a demand from the ITA), and
during which time each Seller may obtain a Valid Tax Certificate. In the event that no later than three (3) Business Days before the Withholding Drop
Date, a Seller submits to the Purchaser and the Payer a Valid Tax Certificate, then the deduction and withholding of any Israeli taxes shall be made only
in accordance with the provisions of such Valid Tax Certificate (if the cash consideration attributed to the Seller is not sufficient, such amount will be
deducted in Closing Equity Consideration equal to such tax withholding amount and remitted to the ITA by the Payer after such Payer sold the portion of
such Closing Equity Consideration otherwise deliverable to such Seller that is required to enable the Payer to comply with such applicable deduction or
withholding requirements based upon the value per share of such Closing Equity Consideration as of the time of such sale) and the balance of the
payment or Closing Equity Consideration that is not withheld shall be promptly paid to such Seller (subject to withholding on account of any non-Israeli
taxes, if applicable). Until such Seller, or anyone on its behalf, presents to the Payer, a Valid Tax Certificate, or evidence reasonably satisfactory to
Purchaser and the Payer that the full applicable Tax amount with respect to such Seller is paid or withheld, the certificates of Closing Equity
Consideration shall be issued in the name of the Paying Agent, to be held in trust for the relevant Seller and delivered to such Seller in compliance with
the withholding requirements under this Section (during which time the Payer shall not withhold any Israeli Tax from such consideration). If any Seller
(A) does not provide the Payer with a Valid Tax Certificate no later than three Business Days before the Withholding Drop Date, or (B) submits a written
request with the Payer to release such Seller’s portion of the Closing Equity Consideration prior to the Withholding Drop Date and fails to submit a Valid
Tax Certificate to the Payer at or before such time, provided however that such Payer, to the extent the Valid Tax Certificate is insufficient, notifies such
Seller of such insufficiency promptly as possible, and that the ITA denies an additional extension request by the Payer, then any amount required to be
withheld with respect to the Closing Equity Consideration shall be funded, first through the cash consideration attributed to the Sellers, and if not
sufficient, through the forfeiture or sale of the portion of the Closing Equity Consideration, otherwise deliverable to such Seller that is required to enable
the Payer to comply with applicable deduction or withholding requirements. To the extent that any Seller is unable, for whatever reason, to sell the
applicable portion of the Closing Equity Consideration, then the Payer shall be entitled to hold all of the Closing Equity Consideration, otherwise
deliverable to the applicable Seller until the earlier of: (i) the receipt of a Valid Tax Certificate; or (ii) such time when the Payer is practically able to sell
the portion of such Closing Equity Consideration otherwise deliverable to such Seller that is required to enable the Payer to comply with such applicable
deduction or withholding requirements. Any reasonable costs or expenses incurred by the relevant Payer in connection with such sale shall be borne by,
and deducted from the payment to, the applicable Seller, subject to prior written notice thereof to such Seller (if reasonably practicable). The amount in
cash to be withheld from such payments shall be calculated according to the applicable withholding rate which amount shall be calculated in NIS based
on a US$:NIS exchange rate at the time of release of the applicable Closing Equity Consideration by the Paying Agent which amount shall be delivered
to the ITA by the Paying Agent (any applicable currency conversion commissions will be borne by the applicable Seller and deducted from payments to
be made to such Seller). The applicable Payer shall furnish the Seller with documents evidencing such Tax withholding and remittance to the ITA. In the
event that the Paying Agent receives a demand from the ITA to withhold any amount out of the Closing Equity Consideration payable to any of the
Sellers and transfer it to the ITA prior to the Withholding Drop Date, the Paying Agent (1) shall notify such Seller of such matter promptly after receipt of
such demand, and provide such Seller with reasonable time (but in no event less than 30 days, unless otherwise explicitly required by the ITA or under
any applicable Law) to attempt to delay such requirement or extend the period for complying with such requirement as evidenced by a written certificate,
ruling or confirmation from the ITA, and (2) to the extent that any such certificate, ruling or confirmation is not timely provided by such Seller to the
Purchaser or the Paying Agent, transfer to the ITA any amount so demanded, and such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as
having been delivered and paid to such Seller.
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8.8. Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary in this Agreement, the Paying Agent and the 102 Trustee shall be entitled to withhold Israeli Taxes
with respect to the consideration payable for Section 102 Securities, on the 15th calendar day of the calendar month following the month during which
the Closing occurs, unless the Tax Ruling are provided prior to such time, and in such case, the Paying Agent and the 102 Trustee shall act in accordance
with the Tax Ruling.

9. SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; INDEMNIFICATION; RELEASE FROM ESCROW

9.1. Survival.

9.1.1. The representations, warranties and covenants of Company and Sellers contained in this Agreement, or in any Ancillary Agreement or
officer’s certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall survive the Closing Date for a period of eighteen (18) months following the Closing Date;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the representations, warranties and covenants set forth in Sections 4.9 through 4.11 (inclusive)
(the “IP Representations”) shall survive for a period of thirty six (36) months following the Closing Date, and (ii) the representation, warranties and
covenants set forth in Sections 4.1 through 4.4 (inclusive), 4.5, 4.6, 4.19, 4.26, 4.22, 7.6, 7.7 (the “Fundamental Representations”) shall survive until
the expiration of the statute of limitation thereof (collectively, the “Claims Period”). For the avoidance of doubt, save for Fraud Matters (as defined
below; whereby in such case the Claims Period shall be until the lapse of applicable statute of limitations solely with respect to the person who acted in
such Fraud Matters and in case the Company made such Fraud Matters to the Sellers), no claim shall be brought after the lapse of the applicable Claims
Period; provided, further, that if, at any time prior to the lapse of the applicable Claims Period, any Indemnified Party (as defined below) delivers a claim
for indemnification pursuant to Section 9.4 then the claim asserted in such notice shall survive the expiration date of the applicable representation,
warranty or covenant until such time as such Claim Notice is fully and finally resolved by a final judgment by a competent court. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the limitations set forth in this Subsection 9.1 shall not apply in the case of claims that a competent court’s final
ruling deems to constitute fraud, intentional misrepresentation, intentional breaches of any covenants or fraud (collectively, “Fraud Matters”).

9.1.2. The covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement or in any certificate or other instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement
shall survive in accordance with their respective terms.

9.2. Indemnification
9.2.1. Each of Sellers, jointly but not severally, agrees to indemnify and hold Purchaser and its employees, officers and directors (each, an
“Indemnified Party” and, collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), harmless against all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, deficiencies, costs and
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees (hereinafter individually, a “Less” and collectively, “Losses”) actually paid, sustained, accrued or incurred
by any Indemnified Party, or any of them directly as a result of or in connection with:
9.2.1.1. any breach of any representation, warranty and/or covenant of the Company and/or such Seller, solely with respect to the

breaching Seller) contained in this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or officer’s certificate delivered in connection hereto;
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9.2.1.2. any failure by a Seller (solely with respect to the failing Seller) to reasonably perform or materially comply with any covenant
contained in this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any other document, certificate, or agreement delivered in connection hereto;

9.2.1.3. all Excluded Liabilities.
9.2.1.4. any assets other than Purchased Assets;
9.2.1.5. any business of the Sellers and/or the Company other than the Business;
9.2.2. Any Person committing Fraud Matters shall be liable for, and shall indemnify and hold the Indemnified Parties harmless for, any Losses
incurred or sustained by the Indemnified Parties, or any of them directly, as a result of such Fraud Matter committed by such Person, regardless of when

such Fraud Matter was discovered.

9.2.3. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit the right of any Indemnified Party to pursue remedies under any Ancillary Agreement against the
parties thereto.

9.3. Defense of Third-Party Claims

9.3.1. In the event of the assertion or commencement by any Person of any claim or judicial action or legal proceeding (whether against
Purchaser or any other Indemnified Person) (each, an “Action”) with respect to which Company and/or any Seller become obligated to hold harmless,
indemnify, compensate or reimburse any Indemnified Party pursuant to this Section 9, the Sellers shall have the right, at its sole discretion and acting
reasonably, to assume and conduct the defense of such Action at its own cost. Purchaser has the right to nominate a counsel to participate in the defense
of such Action at its own expense (but without derogating from any indemnification obligations of the Sellers as herein prescribed).

9.3.2. In order to enable the Sellers to efficiently conduct the defense of such an Action, Purchaser undertakes to make available to Adv. [**], of
Barnea Jaffa Lande & Co, Law Office (the “Representative”), acting as representative of Company and Sellers, any documents and materials in its
possession or control that may be necessary to the defense of such Action.

9.3.3. The Company and Sellers shall have the right to settle, adjust or compromise such Action, in their sole discretion, without Purchaser’s
prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld)

9.3.4. Purchaser shall give Representative notice of the commencement of any Action against any Indemnified Party; provided, however, that
any failure on the part of Purchaser to so notify Company and Sellers shall not limit any of the obligations of Company and/or Sellers under Section 9
except to the extent the Sellers shall have been actually and materially prejudiced as a result of such failure. If the Representative do not elect to proceed
with the defense of any such Action, Purchaser may proceed with the defense of such Action and all expenses relating to the defense of such Action shall
be borne and paid exclusively by Company and/or Sellers to the extent that a competent court’s final judgement rules against the Company and/or Sellers.
For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Company nor any Seller shall be liable nor shall it be required to indemnify or hold harmless the Purchaser and/or
any other Indemnified Party in connection with any settlement effected without its consent in writing. Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, any
adjustment, settlement or compromise referring and/or relating to the fault, guilt or culpability of the Company and/or a Seller shall require Company’s
and/or such Seller’s prior written consent, in its sole discretion. (provided that such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld).
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9.4. Claims Procedure.
Any claim for indemnification, compensation or reimbursement (collectively, “Indemnification”) pursuant to this Section 9 shall be made as follows:

9.4.1. If any Indemnified Party has or claims in good faith to have incurred or suffered Losses for which it is or may be entitled to
Indemnification under this Section 9, such Indemnified Party shall deliver a claim notice (“Claim Notice”) to Representative and the Escrow Agent (if
such Claim Notice is made during the Escrow Period). Each Claim Notice shall: (i) state that the Indemnified Party believes in good faith that the
Indemnified Party is entitled to Indemnification under this Section 9; (ii) contain reasonable detailed description of the facts and circumstances supporting
the Indemnified Party’s claim and any reasonable supporting evidence therefor; and (iii) if practicable, contain a non-binding, preliminary, good faith
estimate of the amount to which the Indemnified Party claims to be entitled (the aggregate amount of such estimate, as it may be modified by the
Indemnified Party in good faith from time to time, being referred to as the “Claimed Amount”).

9.4.2. During the thirty (30) Business Days period commencing upon receipt by Seller of a Claim Notice from an Indemnified Party (the
“Dispute Period”), Representative may deliver to the Indemnified Party, with a copy to the Escrow Agent if the Claim Notice was also sent to the
Escrow Agent, a written response (the “Response Notice”) in which Representative: (i) agree that the full Claimed Amount is owed to the Indemnified
Party; (ii) agree that part, but not all, of the Claimed Amount is owed to the Indemnified Party; or (iii) indicate that no part of the Claimed Amount is
owed to the Indemnified Party. If the Response Notice is delivered in accordance with clause (ii) or (iii) of the preceding sentence, the Response Notice
shall also contain a brief description of the facts and circumstances supporting Seller’s claim that only a portion or no part of the Claimed Amount is
owed to the Indemnified Party, as the case may be (any part of the Claimed Amount that is not agreed to be owed to the Indemnified Party pursuant to the
Indemnified Party’s Claim Notice being referred to as the “Contested Amount”). If a Response Notice is not received by the Indemnified Party, or by
the Escrow Agent if the Claim Notice was also sent to the Escrow Agent, from Representative prior to the expiration of the Dispute Period, then the
Company and Sellers shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed that an amount equal to the full Claimed Amount is owed to the Indemnified Party.
For the purpose hereto, a Response Notice by a Seller and/or the Company approving the Claimed Amount shall be deemed as acceptance per the
provisions of subsection 9.4.3 below.

9.4.3. If Representative in their Response Notice agrees that the full Claimed Amount is owed to the Indemnified Party, or if no Response Notice
is received by the Indemnified Party from Seller prior to the expiration of the Dispute Period, then Purchaser will instruct the Escrow Agent to release the
Claimed Amount to the Indemnified Party.

9.4.4. If Representative in the Response Notice agree that part, but not all, of the Claimed Amount is owed to the Indemnified Party (the
“Agreed Amount”), then the Parties will jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to release the Agreed Amount to the Indemnified Party.

9.4.5. If any Response Notice indicates that there is a Contested Amount, or if no Response Notice is received by the Indemnified Party from
Seller prior to the expiration of the Dispute Period in accordance with Section 9.4.3, Seller and the Indemnified Party may attempt in good faith to resolve
the dispute related to the Contested Amount. If Seller and the Indemnified Party resolve such dispute, such resolution shall be binding on Seller and such
Indemnified Party and a settlement agreement stipulating the amount owed to such Indemnified Party (the “Stipulated Amount”) shall be signed by such
Indemnified Party and Representative. The Parties will jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to release the Stipulated Amount to the Indemnified Party.

9.4.6. In the event that there is a dispute relating to any Claim Notice or Contested Amount (whether it is a matter between the Indemnified

Party, on the one hand, and Representative on the other hand, or it is a matter that is subject to an Action asserted or commenced by a third party brought
against the Indemnified Party in a litigation or arbitration), an action to resolve such dispute may be brought in accordance with Subsection 10.
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9.4.7. Upon resolution of the Action to resolve a Claim Notice in accordance with this Section 9, Purchaser will instruct the Escrow Agent to
release the amount of the award specified in the court’s decision to the Indemnified Party (a copy of such resolution shall be provided by Purchaser to the
Escrow Agent together with such instruction).

9.4.8. If the Parties fail to jointly instruct the Escrow Agent in any of the situations referred to in this Section 9, the Parties agree to irrevocably
accept any ruling by a competent court in accordance with provisions of Section 10 of this Agreement.

9.4.9. Each of the Sellers and Company hereby irrevocably agree to the representation of the Representative in connection with the aforesaid
matters, and that Representative shall be fully entitled to bind them in all legal obligations associated thereto, and is also authorized, inter-alia, to instruct
the Escrow Agent and/or any other Entity with regards to indemnification hereunder.

9.4.10. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 9, in case that a Response Notice containing a Contested Amount was filed, if the
Purchaser did not initiate a claim with the applicable court within 120 days from the date of the Response Notice, the claim with respect to the Contested
Amount (but not with respect to the payment of a Stipulated Amount and/or an Agreed Amount, if applicable) shall be deemed forfeited and no
indemnification shall apply to such claim.

9.5. Limits on Indemnification

9.5.1. Except (a) in the case of any Fraud Matters set forth in this Agreement, or in any certificate or other instrument delivered pursuant to this
Agreement on the part of Sellers and/or Company, (b) in the case of any indemnification claim resulting from, arising out of or in connection with
Fundamental Representations, I[P Representations for any amounts in excess of the Escrow Amount.

9.5.2. The Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to assert any claim for indemnification under this Agreement (other than in connection with
any inaccuracy or breach of the Fundamental Representations, as to which this limitation shall not apply) until such time as the aggregate of all Losses
that the Indemnified Parties have under this Agreement exceeds one Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000), whereupon indemnification may be
sought for all such Losses without regard to the such threshold amount.

9.5.3. The indemnification provisions under this Section 9 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of Purchaser and the Indemnified Parties
against the Company and/or Sellers provided, however, that the foregoing clause of this sentence shall not be deemed a waiver by any Party of any right
to specific performance or injunctive relief.

9.5.4. It is hereby clarified that any indemnification amount that an Indemnified Person is entitled to receive pursuant the provisions herein shall
be first recovered from the Escrow Amount, and second, from the Company and/or, Sellers.

9.5.5. The amount of any Loss subject to indemnification hereunder shall be calculated net of any insurance proceeds or any indemnity,
contribution or other similar payment actually received by the Indemnified Party from any third party with respect thereto. In the event that an insurance
or other recovery is actually made by any Indemnified Party with respect to any Loss for which any such Person has been indemnified hereunder, then a
refund equal to the aggregate amount of the recovery shall be made promptly to the Seller.

9.5.6. Neither Party shall be liable for any special, indirect, incidental, punitive or consequential loss, such as loss of business opportunities or

loss of goodwill, whether in respect of any misrepresentation, breach of contract (other than willful breaches or Fraud Matters), tort, statutory duty or
otherwise, which arises out of or in connection with this Agreement, its subject matter or any transaction contemplated hereunder.
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9.5.7. In all cases, other than Fraud Matters, the Seller’s aggregate liability under this Agreement and in connection with all transactions
contemplated hereunder, whether under this Agreement, tort or otherwise, shall not exceed the amount of 15% (US$1,395,000) of the Closing
Consideration, provided however, that with respect to (i) Fundamental Representations such amount shall not exceed 100% (US$9,300,000) of the
Closing Consideration and (ii) with respect to IP Representations, shall not include such number which is equal to (x) the net Closing Cash Consideration
(i.e., the Closing Cash Consideration minus any taxes in accordance with the Tax Ruling in connection with such Closing Cash Consideration); plus (y)
the net amount received by the Sellers for the sale of the Ordinary Shares (or ADSs, as applicable) of the Company (up to the aggregate Equity
Consideration), but (z) in no event other than Fraud Matters, more than US$3,250,000, and further provided that in no event that such applicable
Indemnified Party shall receive more than the amount of the Loss from the Company and/or the Sellers (aggregated).

9.6. Escrow Arrangements and Payment of Escrow Amount

9.6.1. The Escrow Fund shall be deposited with the Escrow Agent until 18 months as of the Closing Date.

9.6.2. By virtue of this Agreement and as partial security for the indemnity provided hereof, the Escrow Amount shall be deposited at the
Closing into an escrow account with the Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Account”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Escrow Agreement, and
Sellers hereby direct Purchaser to pay such amount to the Escrow Agent from the Closing Consideration. The Escrow Fund shall be available as partial
compensation to the Indemnified Parties for any claims by such parties for any Losses suffered or incurred by them and for which they are entitled to
recovery under Section 9.

9.6.3. In case the Escrow fund is to be utilized for indemnification for Losses pursuant to the herein terms, then Escrow Agent shall first utilize
and release the cash portion of the Escrow Fund, and only following the depletion thereto shall release the equity portion of deposited into the Escrow
Fund.

9.6.4. For the purpose of determining the number of Ordinary Shares to be released from escrow to discharge Sellers’ indemnification
obligations, the effective price of such Ordinary Share shall be closing price of the Purchaser ADS on the Trading Day which is two Trading Days
immediately prior to the actual release of such Ordinary Shares, but no less than the Effective ADS Price.

9.6.5. Sellers hereby irrevocably agree and confirm that any Ordinary Share to be released from Escrow to discharge any indemnification
obligation hereunder shall be deemed as forfeited for the purposes hereto, and Sellers irrevocably authorize any officer of the Company to make the

requisite declaration with respect hereto.

9.7. Distribution of Escrow Amount

9.7.1. The Escrow Agent shall transfer to Paying Agent, for the latter purpose of distributing all remaining funds in the Escrow Account to
Sellers at 3:00 p.m., local time to a bank account designed in writing by the Sellers, first on the third Business Day after 18 months anniversary of the
Closing Date (the “Escrow Period”), an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Escrow Fund minus the amount of potential Losses from
unresolved claims specified in Claim Notices made to that date and for which a suit was submitted to a competent court. As soon as all such claims have
been resolved by final judgment of a competent court, the Escrow Agent shall deliver the remaining portion of the Escrow Fund, if any, to Paying Agent
for further distribution and withholding (if applicable).

9.8. Taxation of Escrow Amount

9.8.1. Any interest earned on the Escrow Amount shall be added to the Escrow Amount and become a part thereof. All interest on or other
taxable income, if any, earned from the investment of the Escrow Amount shall be treated for tax purposes as earned by Sellers, and Sellers shall be
responsible for any taxes due with respect to such interest.
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9.9. Fees

9.9.1. All fees of the Escrow Agent for performance of its duties under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement and Paying Agent Agreement
shall be borne by the Sellers.

10. MISCELLANEOUS

10.1. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of Israel without giving
effect to its principles or rules of conflicts of laws. The competent courts of the Tel Aviv district shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear all disputes
arising in connection with this Agreement and no other courts shall have any jurisdiction whatsoever in respect of such disputes.

10.2. Counterpart Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered one
and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party, it being
understood that two parties need not sign the same counterpart. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile or PDF transmission, such
signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) the same with the same force
and effect as if such facsimile or PDF signature page were an original thereof.

10.3. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Amended Articles and the Ancillary Agreements constitute the full and entire agreement, covenants,
promises and understandings between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede any and all prior agreements,
understandings, promises and representations made by all or some of the Parties (or by any Party to another), written or oral, concerning the subject
matter hereof and the terms applicable hereto, including that certain Indication of Interest entered into by and among the Sellers and the Purchaser, dated
April 11, 2021.

10.4. Amendment & Waivers. Any term of this Agreement may be amended and the non-observance of any term of this Agreement may be waived
(either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) only with the written consent of: (i) at least one Seller, solely to the
extend such amendment does not derogate from any right of the other Seller hereunder, and (ii) the Purchaser.

10.5. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable under applicable law, then such
provision shall be excluded from this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and shall
be enforceable in accordance with its terms; provided, however, that in such event this Agreement shall be interpreted so as to give effect, to the greatest
extent consistent with and permitted by applicable law, to the meaning and intention of the excluded provision as determined by such court of competent
jurisdiction.
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10.6. Notice. All notices or other communications provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given in person, by registered mail
(registered air mail if mailed internationally), by an overnight courier service which obtains a receipt to evidence delivery, by facsimile transmission
(evidenced by written confirmation of transmission) or by e-mail transmission, addressed as set forth below:

Company: Takoomi Ltd.
121 Menahem Begin Rd.
Tel Aviv
Attention: Founders
Tel: [**]
e-mail: [**]

with a copy to (which shall not constitute service of process):
Barnea Jaffa Lande Law Offices

58 Harakevet St.

Tel Aviv, Israel.

Attention: [**]

Email: [**]

Purchaser: Safe-T Group Ltd.
8 Aba Evan Av.
Herzelia
Attention: Mr. Shai Avnit, CFO
Tel: 09-8999110
e-mail: shai.avnit@safe-t.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute service of process):
Sullivan & Worcester Tel-Aviv.

28 HaArba’a St. HaArba’a Towers, Northern Tower

35th Floor, Tel-Aviv, Israel

Attention: [**]

e-mail: [**]

Sellers: Mr. Roni Lev
[**]
Tel: [**]
e-mail: [*¥]

Mr. Yotam Benattia
[**]

Tel: [**]

e-mail: [*¥]

with a copy to (which shall not constitute service of process):

Barnea Jaffa Lande Law Offices

58 Harakevet St.

Tel Aviv, Israel.

Attention: [**]

Email: [**]
or such other address as any party may designate to the other in accordance with the aforesaid procedure. All notices and other communications delivered
in person shall be deemed to have been given upon delivery. Notices and other communications delivered e-mail transmission (in either case with
confirmation of receipt) shall be deemed to have been given as of one business day after sending thereof. All notices and other communications delivered
by overnight air courier shall be deemed to have been given as of the third business day after posting; and all notices and other communications sent by
registered mail shall be deemed given ten (10) days after posting.

10.7. Expenses. Each Party shall bear its own fees and expenses in connection with the negotiations and drafting of this Agreement, the Ancillary
Agreements and all related documents and actions.

10.8. Further Actions. At any time and from time to time, each Party agrees, without further consideration, to take such actions and to execute and deliver
such documents as may be reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]

[Signature Page to Follow]
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Signatures page — Share Purchase Agreement
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Asset Transfer And Share Purchase Agreement as of the date first above written.
PURCHASER:
Safe-T Group Ltd.

By:  /s/ Shai Avnit
Name: Shai Avnit
Title: CFO

Date: July 1, 2021

COMPANY:
Takoomi Ltd.

By:  /s/ Takoomi Ltd.

Name: Roni Lev | Yotam Benattia
Title: Co-Founders

Date: July 1, 2021

SELLERS:
Mr. Roni Lev

By:  /s/RoniLev

Mr. Yotam Benattia

By:  /s/ Yotam Benattia

Mr. David Matrikin

By:  /s/ David Matrikin

Mrs. Pazit Hagag Bachar

By:  /s/ Pazit Hagag Bachar
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EXHIBIT A

LIST OF SELLERS

NAME 1D ADDRESS E-MAIL
Roni Lev ] [**] [**]
Yotam Benattia ] [**] [**]
David Matrikin ] [**] [**]
Pazit Hagag Bachar ] [**] [**]

CONSIDERATION ALLOCATION

[**]

SCHEDULE 1.1.61
TRANSFERRED SOFTWARE

[**]

SCHEDULE 2.4.1.1
PERFORMANCE MILESTONES

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.2.1
SHARE TRANSFER DEED

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.2.3
SHAREHOLDERS RESOLUTION

[**]
SCHEDULE 3.2.4(A)

SHARE CERTIFICATE

[**]
SCHEDULE 3.2.4(B)

SHAREHOLDERS REGISTER

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.2.5
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.2.6
OPINION OF COUNSEL

[**]

SCHEDULES 3.2.7.1(A) AND 3.2.7.1(B)
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

[**]

38




SCHEDULE 3.2.7.2
ASSIGNMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

July 4, 2021

To:
[NAME OF EMPLOYEFE]

Dear [NAME OF EMPLOYEE],

Re: Assignment of Employment Agreement

This letter is to inform you that Takoomi Ltd. (“Company”) wishes to transfer and assign your employment to its affiliated company, Cyberkick Ltd.
(“Assignee”). This letter (“Letter of Assignment”) summarizes the terms and conditions under which your employment with the Company shall be
assigned to Assignee;

1. As of July 1, 2021 (“Effective Date”) you shall be employed by the Assignee with retroactive effect.

2. All rights and obligations of the Company under your employment agreement with the Company, dated [DATE OF EMPLOYEE'S
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT] (the “Agreement”), attached hereto as Annex A, shall be fully assigned to the Assignee, mutatis mutandis.

3. Your salary level and the other benefits you will be entitled to as of the Effective Date shall continue unchanged in accordance with the terms
immediately prior to the assignment of your employment.

4. You shall be entitled to all the benefits stemming from your employment period with the Company (‘“Past Employment Period”), including
but not limited to the purpose of calculating your vacation days, sick leave and severance payment, and such Past Employment Period shall continue to
accumulate for as long as you shall be employed by the Assignee.

5. For avoidance of doubt, the outstanding balance of your vacation days and sick leave from your Past Employment Period will be transferred to
the Assignee for the purpose of ensuring continuity of your term of employment while respecting your rights

6. It is hereby clarified that any and all mangers insurance policies and/or pension funds and/or any other social benefits policies and/or any
other equivalent rights maintained and contributed by the Company, in your name, shall also be transferred to the Assignee, subject to the terms therein
contained.

7. For the avoidance of doubt, it is hereby clarified that due to the assignment of the Past Employment Period as provided herein, all your
undertakings, covenants and representations under the Past Employment Period with respect to the those provided the Agreement, including but not
limited to any and all appendices to the Agreement, shall be binding on you vis-a-vis the Assignee.

8. Company’s and/or Assignee failure to fulfill their obligations hereunder shall not be deemed as a breach of this Letter of Assignment and your
sole remedy in such case shall be your right to receive only the rights you are entitled to under the Agreement. This Remedy shall constitute full
satisfaction of Company’s and/or Assignee liability hereunder (including in the event when the actual loss suffered exceeds the value of the remedy).

9. Following the fulfillment of all of Company’s obligations hereunder, you hereby unconditionally and irrevocably waive any rights or claims

you have or may have against the Company with respect to the Agreement and this Letter of Assignment.
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10. In no event shall this Letter of Assignment prejudice your rights and privileges under the Agreement.

11. For the purpose of transferring your rights and obligations to the Assignee, you are kindly requested to sign your name on the designated
place below, which together with our signature and the signature of the Assignee shall constitute the agreement of the parties hereto to the transfer of your
employment to the Assignee as set out in this Letter of Assignment.

Takoomi Ltd.

I read this Letter of Assignment, understood its implications and I hereby agree and accept all the terms herein contained.

Name ID Number Date Signature

We, the undersigned, CyberKick Ltd., hereby confirm that we read, understand and agree to be bound by this Letter of Assignment.

CyberKick Ltd.
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SCHEDULE 3.2.9
PURCHASER BOARD RESOLUTIONS

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.2.10
ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

[**]
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SCHEDULE 3.2.12
PrOXY

IRREVOCABLE PROXY

In accordance with the Share Purchase Agreement dated June 30, 2021 (the “Agreement”) by and among Safe-T Group Ltd., a company
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Israel (the “Company”) and certain Sellers, as designated in the Agreement, the undersigned agrees
as set forth herein. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Agreement.

1. Grant of Irrevocable Proxy.

a.

This Proxy is irrevocable (to the fullest extent permitted by law), and is granted pursuant to the Agreement, which provides for the purchase
by the Company from each of the Sellers and the sale by each of the Sellers to the Company, of the entire issued and outstanding share
capital of the SPV, and the receipt by Sellers of cash and securities of the Company in exchange for the such purchased shares in the SPV.

The undersigned shareholder (the “Shareholder”) with respect to all of the shares of the Company that have been received in connection
with the Agreement, and any other shares or securities of the Company issued or issuable in respect of the Agreement on or after the date
hereof (i.e. the Earn-Out), as well as any shares issued by reason of any share split, share dividend, reclassification, recapitalization or other
similar restructuring in connection with such shares (collectively, the “Shares”), hereby irrevocably (to the fullest extent permitted by law,
and subject to the terms hereto) appoints the Chairperson of the Company’s Board of Directors or such other officer of the Company as the
Company’s Board of Directors shall designate from time to time (the “Holders”), as the sole and exclusive attorneys-in-fact and proxies of
the undersigned with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote and exercise all voting and related rights with respect to, and to
grant a consent or approval in respect of (in each case, to the full extent that the undersigned is entitled to do so and subject to the terms
hereto), all of the Shares in accordance with the terms of this Proxy. All prior proxies heretofore given by the undersigned with respect to
any Shares are hereby revoked and the undersigned hereby covenants and agrees not to grant any subsequent proxies with respect to any
Shares. The above notwithstanding, any Shares purchased by Shareholder following twenty-four (24) months of the Closing, provided that
at such time Shareholder was not an office holder with the Purchaser Group (as such term is defined in the Agreement), will not be deemed
as Shares for the purpose of this Proxy.

The Holders are hereby authorized and empowered by the undersigned Shareholder to act as the undersigned’s attorney-in-fact and proxy to
vote the Shares, and to exercise all voting, consent, and similar rights of the undersigned with respect to the Shares (including, without
limitation, the power to execute and deliver written consents), at every annual, special, adjourned, or postponed meetings of shareholders of
the Company and in every written consent in lieu of such meeting, solely in connection with the following matters:

i) The nomination, election and/or re-election of any member of Company’s Board of Directors - shall be voted by Holders in accordance
with the recommendations put forward to shareholders of the Company by the Board of Directors of the Company, and any resolutions
ancillary thereby;

ii) The issuance of any securities, creation, adjustment and/or alteration of Company’s share capital (including any, split, reverse-split,
recapitalization, reclassification, restructuring, increase or decrease thereto), excluding with respect to any issuance of any securities
which reflect a price per share of the Company that reflects a discount greater than 25% on the price per share (or ADS) of the
Company on the respective stock exchange as quoted on the closing price three (3) days prior to the general meeting or resolution
(provided however, that none of said exclusion shall be in effect if the resolution subject matter falls under grant of Company options
under section (iii) below) - shall be voted in accordance with the recommendations put forward to shareholders of the Company by the
Board of Directors of the Company and any resolutions ancillary thereby; and
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iii) Any remuneration, payments and/or grant of Company options made by the Company to members of its Board of Directors and/or
office holders of the Company - shall be abstained.

The Holders may not exercise this Irrevocable Proxy with respect to any matter other than the matters described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii)
above, and Shareholder may vote the Shares on all other matters.

The Holders shall have no duty, liability, and obligation whatsoever to the Shareholder arising out of the exercise by the Holders of the
foregoing irrevocable proxy. The Shareholder expressly acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Shareholder will not impede the exercise of
the Holders rights under the irrevocable proxy and (ii) the Shareholder waives and relinquishes any claim, right or action the Shareholder
might have, as a Shareholder of the Company or otherwise, against the Holders or any of his affiliates in connection with any exercise of the
irrevocable proxy granted hereunder.

Shareholder will not to raise any claims or demands against Company and its affiliates in connection, directly or indirectly, with the Proxy
and exercise thereof and waives and relinquishes any claim, right or action against the Company and/or Holders in connection with any
exercise of the irrevocable proxy granted hereunder, provided the Proxy was exercises in accordance with its terms. The Shareholder shall
have no duty, liability, and obligation whatsoever to the Holders and/or the Company arising out of the exercise by the Holders of the
foregoing irrevocable proxy, other than where Shareholder acted in contradiction thereof. Save for where Shareholder has acted in contrary
to this Proxy and/or otherwise to cause, directly or indirectly, this Proxy to be nulled (in whole or in part), the Company expressly
acknowledge, agree and undertake (i) to fully, finally, irrevocably, unconditionally and absolutely waive, release, and forever discharge the
Shareholder, from any and all claims, actions, proceedings, demands, causes of action, payments, damages, costs and liabilities of any
nature whatsoever, against the Shareholder, with respect to the Holder’s use of this Proxy and exercise thereof; and (ii) not to raise any
claims or demands against Shareholder and his affiliates in connection, directly or indirectly, with the Proxy and exercise thereof and to
waive and relinquishes any claim, right or action the Holders (in their capacity in the Company or otherwise) and/or the Company might
have, against the Shareholder or any of his affiliates in connection with any exercise of the irrevocable proxy granted hereunder

The Shareholder has the right to notice and receipt of any information of or to all general and special meetings of shareholders of the
Company during the term of this Irrevocable Proxy, including for the avoidance of doubt with respect to any meetings concerning the
matters set forth in Section (c) above, and further severally agrees that if any notice is given by the Company to the shareholders of the
Company, such notice will be deemed to have been validly given to the Shareholder for all purposes.

This irrevocable proxy shall expire on the earlier of: 1) as to those Shares on the date that such Shares are sold by the Shareholder but shall
continue as to any Shares not so sold, and 2) upon the completion of a Change of Control, which for the purpose of this Irrevocable Proxy
shall mean - the acquisition by any individual, entity or group of beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the issued and outstanding share
capital of the Company (but specifically excluding any equity investments in the Company); provided, however, that any acquisition by the
Company or its subsidiaries, or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or its subsidiaries of 50% or more of the issued
and outstanding share capital of the Company shall not constitute a Change in Control, (2) the Company declared insolvent or upon the
filing by or against the Company of a petition in bankruptcy, whether voluntary or otherwise, (3) upon the Shareholder (i) becoming a non-
executive officers of the Company (i.e, not considered an office holder of the Company) and (ii) holding less than two and a half (2.5%) of
the then issued share capital of the Company and (4) a transaction by the Company involving an issuance of at least five percent (5%) of the
then issued share capital of the Company pursuant to which not all parties receiving securities of the Company have entered into a proxy
substantially similar to this Proxy.
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Any obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the undersigned.

So long as Shareholder is an officer holder or director of the Company, nothing in this Proxy shall be construed as preventing or otherwise
affecting any actions taken by Shareholder in his or her capacity as an officer holder or director of the <Company or any of its subsidiaries
or from fulfilling the obligations of such office (including without limitation, the performance of obligations required by the fiduciary
obligations of Shareholder acting solely in his or her capacity as an officer holder or director).

2. Legend. In the event such legend is required to facilitate and implement this Irrevocable Proxy, the Shareholder agrees to permit an appropriate
legend on certificates evidencing the Shares reflecting the grant of the Irrevocable Proxy contained in the foregoing Section 1.

3. Representations and Warranties. The Shareholder re : resents and warrants to the Holders as follows:

a.

The Shareholder has all necessary rights, power, and authority to execute, deliver and perform his obligations under this Irrevocable Proxy.
This Irrevocable Proxy has been duly executed and delivered by the Shareholder and constitutes hjs legal and valid obligation enforceable
against the Shareholder in accordance with its terms.

b. The Shareholder shall furnish to the Company upon its request such reasonable information regarding their holdings of the Shares held by
them on a timely manner as shall be reasonably required to effect the Holders’ rights pursuant to this Proxy and the Shareholders obligations
hereunder.

c. There are no proxies, voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which such Shareholder is a party or bound by and which
expressly require that any of the Shares be voted in any specific manner other than this Irrevocable Proxy; and such Shareholder has not
entered into any agreement or arrangement inconsistent with this Irrevocable Proxy.

/s/ [Shareholder] July 4, 2021
[Shareholder] Date

/s/ Shai Avnit July 1,2021
Safe-T Group Ltd. Date

By: Shai Avnit

Title: CFO

/s/ [**] July 2, 2021
[¥+] Date

By: [**]

Title: [**]
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SCHEDULE 3.3.6.2
ESCROW AGREEMENT

[**]

SCHEDULE 3.3.6.4
MATERIAL PURCHASED CONTRACTS

[**]

SCHEDULE 4
DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

[**]

SCHEDULE 8.3
PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT

[**]
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